

PDF issue: 2024-09-14

# Novel function of (-)-epigallocatechin-3gallate on gut hormone secretion

Song, Won Young

<mark>(Degree)</mark> 博士(農学)

(Date of Degree) 2015-09-04

(Date of Publication) 2020-09-04

(Resource Type) doctoral thesis

(Report Number) 乙第3289号

(URL) https://hdl.handle.net/20.500.14094/D2003289

※ 当コンテンツは神戸大学の学術成果です。無断複製・不正使用等を禁じます。著作権法で認められている範囲内で、適切にご利用ください。



## **Doctoral Dissertation**

# Novel function of (-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate on gut hormone secretion

エピガロカテキンガレートの 腸管ホルモン分泌に関する新しい機能

## August 2015

Won Young Song

# Graduate School of Agricultural Science

## **Kobe University**

#### CONTENTS

General introduction
Chapter 1
Induction of secretion of anorexigenic gut hormones by polyphenols15
1.1 Introduction
1.2 Materials and methods
1.2.1 Chemicals
1.2.2 Cell culture and treatment
1.2.3 RNA extraction and RT-PCR from Caco-2 cells
1.2.4 Cell viability assay21
1.2.5 Treatment of murine intestines
1.2.6 ELISA
1.2.7 Statistical Analysis22
1.3 Results
1.3.1 Endocrine characteristics of Caco-2 cells
1.3.2 Nutrients-dependent secretion of gut hormones from Caco-2 cells25
1.3.3 Non-nutrients which induce secretion of gut hormones from Caco-2 cells25
1.3.4 Gut hormones secretion from Caco-2 cells stimulated by catechins
1.3.5 Induction of anorexigenic gut hormone secretion from murine intestines by
EGCg27
1.4 Discussion
Chapter 2
Molecular mechanisms underlying GLP-1 secretion induced by (-) epigallocatechin-3-
gallate40
2.1 Introduction
2.2 Materials and methods
2.2.1 Cell culture
2.2.2 RNA extraction and quantitative PCR45
2.2.3 GLP-1 secretion stimulated by EGCg with pretreatment of inhibitors of
EGCg candidate receptors46
2.2.4 GLP-1 secretion from Caco-2 cell and NCI-H716 cells stimulated by EGCg
2.2.5 Calcium imaging47
2.2.6 Statistical Analysis
2.3 Results
2.3.1 Investigation of the up-stream pathway of GLP-1 secretion by EGCg in
Caco-2 cells
2.3.2 Changes in intracellular calcium concentration under stimulation of EGCg.50
2.4 Discussion
Chapter 3
Effect of (-) epigallocatechin-3-gallate on the regulation of food intake
3.1 Introduction
3.2 Materials and methods
3.2.1 Evaluation of food intake

3.2.2 Statistical Analysis	62
3.3 Result	63
3.3.1 Alteration of food consumption by EGCg	63
3.3.2 Epicatechin doesn't induce reduction of food intake	64
3.4 Discussion	66
Conclusion	70
References	72
Acknowledgement	
List of Publications	95

### Abbreviations

AITC	allyl isothiocyanate
С	(-)-catechin
CaSR	calcium-sensing receptor
CCK	cholecystokinin
Cg	(-)-catechin -3-gallate
CNS	central nervous system
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
DPP IV	dipeptidyl peptidase IV
EC	(-)-epicatechin
ECg	(-)-epicatechin-3-gallate
EGC	(-)-epigallocatechin
EGCg	(-)-eigallocatechin-3-gallate
FBS	fetal bovin serum
GC	(-)-gallocatechin
GCg	(-)-gallocatechin-3-gallate
GLP-1	glucagon-like peptide 1
GPCR	G-protein coupled receptors
HBSS	Hanks' balanced salt solution
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PC1	prohormone convertase 1
РҮҮ	peptide tyrosine-tyrosine
qPCR	quantitative polymerase chain reaction

### **General introduction**

Food compounds are composed of not only nutrients, but also of non-digestive compounds that affect the body. Polyphenols are one of these chemicals; they are secondary metabolites in plants and function as protective agents against stress. When consumed, dietary polyphenols help humans to prevent various diseases, including obesity [1]. One of the causes of obesity is excessive eating, which is generally regulated by the neuroendocrine system. It is possible that polyphenols affect this endocrine system and modify appetite.

#### Anorexigenic gut hormones

Postprandial energy metabolism is regulated not only by the brain, but also by gut organs. Its regulation is mediated by nervous and endocrine systems [2]. Key players of these systems are peptide hormones secreted from the gut epithelia in response to food compounds. At least 10 gut hormones were identified and revealed their contribution in digestion-related functions such as motility of the stomach and intestines, secretion of digestive enzymes, blood glucose homeostasis, and appetite control in the brain (Table 0.1). Part of the gut hormones reach the hypothalamus via afferent neurons that are innervated to the gastrointestinal tract, and accordingly modify food intake behavior [3]. Among these hormones, cholecystokinin (CCK), glucagon-like peptide (GLP)-1 and peptide tyrosine-tyrosine (PYY) have been shown to be the primary satiety signals and act as anorexigenic hormones [4] (Figure 0.1). Dietary nutrients ingested in the gut are potent inducers of these gut hormones [4]. CCK is secreted from the proximal intestine such as the duodenum and jejunum in response to dietary carbohydrates, proteins and fats [4, 5]. CCK consists of a series of peptides which are cleaved from the common precursor composed of 115 amino acids. The one which is produced in the gut consists of 33 amino acids of 1 to 33 (CCK-33). CCK-33 is an amidated carboxy-terminal pentapeptide (Gly-Trp-Asp-Met-Phe-NH<sub>2</sub>) at their C-terminal, which confers the biological activity of CCK, and where the tyrosine residue occurs in sulfated form [6]. The secreted CCK is received by vagal afferent nerve which projects to the nucleus of the solitary tract (NST) in the brain stem. The neural network transmits the satiety input at NST to hypothalamus, where anorexigenic pathways are activated.

GLP-1 is released from the hind gut region such as the ileum and the colon in response to dietary carbohydrates, proteins, and fats [4, 7]. The secreted GLP-1 reaches to the NST directly by blood stream or via signals in the vagal nerve. The active forms of GLP-1 produced in the gut are GLP-1 (7-37) and GLP-1 (7-36) amide, which is a C-terminal  $\alpha$ -amidated form of GLP-1 (7-36). Secreted GLP-1 (7-36) amide is rapidly metabolized to GLP-1 (9-36) by dipeptidyl peptidase IV [8,9], which make a half life time of its efficacy in less than 2 minutes [9,10]. GLP-1 (9-36) comprises about 60% of circulating GLP-1 peptides in the blood and shown to no longer possess its bioactivity.

PYY is produced in the same cell which produces GLP-1 in the gut, and secreted in response to proteins and fats [4, 11]. PYY undergoes modification by cleaving the last 2 residues at N-terminus, tyrosine-proline residues, results to form PYY (3-36) [12]. PYY (1-36) amounts to about 60%, and PYY (3-36) does 40% of circulating PYY in the blood [13]. PYY (1-36) and PYY (3-36) cross the blood-brain barrier to be received at hypothalamus and related with weight control via feeding regulation [14, 15]. The PYY peptides selectively activate neuropeptide Y receptor (NPYR) isoforms. These are G protein coupled-receptors (GPCR) and consists 5 isoforms [16]. PYY (3-36) is received by NPY2R and NPY5R, whereas PYY (1-36) activate NPY1R in addition to those 2 receptors [17]. Those 3 receptors were shown to be expressed in hypothalamus as well as the colon and the intestine. Especially, PYY (3-36) has been shown to induce anorexigenic effects through NPY2R and NPY5R [17, 18]. PYY (3-36) has been shown to have a longer duration of action than other anorexigenic peptides such as CCK and GLP-1 [3,4]. Together with other body states such as stomach distension and energy metabolism at the liver and adipocytes, anorexigenic gut hormones coordinate energy intake and expenditure through hypothalamus.

#### **Reception of food compounds**

The study of chemical reception of food compounds has revealed that some nutrients activate several kinds of GPCRs, including taste receptors, calcium-sensing receptor (CaSR), lysophosphatidic acid receptor 5 (LPAR5), G-protein coupled receptor family C group 6 (GPRC6A), and free fatty acid receptors (FFARs) (Table 0.2). Type 1 family of taste receptors, TAS1Rs, has been shown to be activated by sugars, amino acids and oligopeptides [19, 20]. CaSR and GPRC6A have also been shown to respond to amino acids [21, 22, 23]. LPAR5 has been shown to be activated by amino acids and protein hydrolysates [24]. FFARs respond to many kinds of free fatty acids [25, 26], i.e., FFAR1 and FFAR4, which are also called GPR40 and GPR120, have been known as a receptor for unsaturated medium and long chain free fatty acids [4,27]. FFAR2 and FFAR3, which are also called GPR43 and GPR41, have been shown to be activated by unsaturated short chain free fatty acids [4, 25, 26]. Some of these receptors have been shown to relate to gut hormone secretions. For example, TAS1R2 - TAS1R3 complex is activated by sugars, such as glucose, to release GLP-1 [28, 29]. On the other hand, gut hormones have been shown to be produced in the distinct cells located differently in the epithelia of the gut. Those enteroendocrine cells have been named as I, K, L, and M cells after their characteristics and locations (Table 0.1) [4]. As a receptor for amino acids, CaSR has been shown to be involved in both CCK secretion in I cells and GLP-1 secretion in L cells [4, 30]. GPRC6A receptor was also activated by amino acids, induced GLP-1 secretion from GLUTag cell, an L-cell like model derived from mouse intestine [31]. Activation of LPAR5 by protein hydrolysate induces CCK transcription and secretion in STC-1 cell, a model enteroendocrine cell line derived from mouse small intestine [32]. For fat metabolites, FFAR1 and FFAR4 were revealed to mediate oleic acid stimulation to induce CCK in I cells and PYY in L cells [21, 26]. Especially, FFAR4 was revealed to be involved in the secretion of GLP-1 *in vivo* as well [33].

Recently, it has been demonstrated that some non-nutrients act on the subfamily of bitter taste receptors in human, hTAS2Rs [34]. Among non-nutrients, polyphenols have been reported to activate these receptors, e.g., malvidin-3 glucoside activates hTAS2R7 [35, 36] and epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCg) activates hTAS2R14 and hTAS2R39 [36, 37]. On the other hand, some hTAS2Rs have been shown to act as triggers for gut hormone secretion. For example, activation of hTAS2R3, hTAS2R4, or hTAS2R46 by denatonium benzoate was shown to be involved in the GLP-1 secretion [38] and activation of hTAS2R38 by phenylthiocarbamide was involved in the CCK secretion [39]. These examples demonstrate that not only nutrients but also non-nutrients possibly induce anorexigenic gut hormone secretion.

#### **Epigallocatechin-3-gallate**

Green and oolong teas have been reported to play a role of anti-obesity [40, 41]. The anti-obesity effect of teas was mainly attributed to catechins [30]. Catechins share a flavan-3-ol structure, which contains two benzene rings, A-rings and B-rings and a heterocyclic C-ring with a hydroxyl group on third carbon, and additionally contain another hydroxyl group on A-rings, B-rings or a galloyl group on C-ring. Most catechins have hydroxyl group at the C5 and C7 of the A-ring (Figure 0.2) [42, 43]. Among catechins, (-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCg) is the most prevalent catechin in green tea and reported to have the anti-obesity activity [44]. EGCg is accounting for 54%-59% of total green tea catechins, followed by EGC (9-12%), ECg (9-12%) and EC (5-7%) [45, 46]. The underlying mechanism of anti-obesity activity by EGCg was demonstrated in several ways: controlling adipocyte, inhibition of fat absorption, delaying glucose absorption, regulation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors which mediates adipogenesis [40, 46, 47, 48]. In addition, it was shown that EGCg reduces adipogenesis through blocking of cell cycles [29]. Inhibitions of pancreatic lipase activity by EGCg reduced fat absorption from the gut [49]. EGCg was also shown to acutely reduce postprandial blood glucose levels via inhibition of  $\alpha$ -amylase activity [50, 51]. It was also reported that EGCg affects food intake reduction, which largely participate in reduction of body weight in lean and obesity patients [44]. However, it was not fully understood how EGCg leads reduction of food intake.

This study has been performed to examine the hypothesis that polyphenols such as EGCg affect the secretion of anorexigenic gut hormones, CCK, GLP-1 or PYY, and cause reduction of food intake. In chapter 1, some polyphenols including EGCg found to induce CCK, GLP-1 and PYY secretion *in vitro*, and the effect of EGCg on secretion of anorexigenic hormones was confirmed *ex vivo* using murine intestines. In chapter 2, the molecular mechanisms of GLP-1 release by EGCg were investigated. To investigate a physiological effect of EGCg through anorexigenic gut hormones *in vivo*, food consumption was evaluated for 24 hours after EGCg administration in chapter 3.

Hormones	Secretagogues	Secretory tissues	Producing cells	Functions
CCK	carbohydrates, proteins, fats	duodenum, jejunum	I cell	brain; postprandial satiety ↑ stomach; gastric emptying pancreas; glucagon release ↑
secretin	proteins, fats	duodenum	S cell	stomach; gastric acid release ↑
GIP	carbohydrates, proteins, fats	duodenum	K cell	stomach; gastric acid release ↑ pancreas; insulin secretion ↑
GLP-1	carbohydrates, proteins, fats	ileum, colon	L cell	brain; postprandial satiety ↑ pancreas; insulin secretion ↑ glucagon secretion ↓
enteroglucagon	carbohydrates, fats	ileum, colon	L cell	stomach; gastric acid release ↓ gastric emptying
РҮҮ	proteins, fats	ileum, colon	L cell	brain; postprandial satiety ↑ stomach; gastric emptying
motilin	fats	duodenum, jejunum	M cell	stomach; gastric emptying intestine; gut motility
somatostatin	fats	duodenum, Stomach, pancreas	D cell	stomach; gastric acid release ↓ pancreas; insulin secretion ↓
oxyntomodulin	proteins, fats	ileum, colon	L cell	stomach; gastric acid release ↓ gastric emptying

 Table 0.1. Gut hormones secreted in response to food compounds.





Gut hormones are produced in the enteroendocrine cells located in the gut epithelia. Anorexic gut hormones, CCK, GLP-1, and PYY are secreted in response to the food compounds passing along the gut lumen. The hormones are transmitted to the brain where they affect the regulation of food intake.

Nutrients		Receptors
carbohydrates	glucose, sucrose	TAS1R2 - TAS1R3 [20, 28]
	amino acids, oligopeptides	TAS1R1-TAS1R3 [20]
proteins	amino acids, protein hydrolysates	LPAR5* [24]
	amino acids	CaSR [31], GPRC6A#[23]
	short-chain fatty acids	FFAR2, FFAR3 [52, 53]
fats	medium-chain fatty acids long-chain fatty acids	FFAR1, FFAR4 [54, 55]
	long-chain fatty acids	GPR120 + [27]

#### Table 0.2. GPCRs which are activated by nutrients.

\* LPAR5; lysophosphatidic acid receptor 5

# GPRC6A; G-protein coupled receptor family C group 6

† GPR120; G protein-coupled receptor 119



#### Figure 0.2. The structure of catechins.

(-) C (R1=H, R2=H, R3=OH) , (-) EC (R1=H, R2=OH, R3=H), (-) GC (R1=OH, R2=H, R3=OH), (-) EGC (R1=OH, R2=OH, R3=OH) (-) Cg (R1=H, R2=H, R3=OG), (-) ECg (R1=H, R2=OG, R3=H), (-) GCC (R1=OH, R2=H, R3=OG), (-) EGCg (R1=OH, R2=OG, R3=H). OH, hydroxy group; OG, galloyl group.

### **Chapter 1**

# Induction of secretion of anorexigenic gut hormones by polyphenols

#### **1.1 Introduction**

Gut hormones are produced and secreted from the enteroendocrine cells in response to food compounds. Enteroendocrine cells are distributed throughout the epithelial layer of gut [55]. There are more than 10 subtypes of enteroendocrine cells which release peptide hormones. Most of those cells secrete single hormone but some are able to secrete more than one hormone [4, 56]. In order to investigate the candidate inducers for these gut hormones, cultured cell lines provide useful tools. The Caco-2 cell line derived from a human colon cancer tissue is often used as an intestinal epithelial model for *in vitro* analysis of uptake of food compounds, whereas it is partially presents chromogranin A, which is widely expressed in enteroendocrine cells [57]. Therefore, it was worth evaluating to verify whether the Caco-2 cells can be used as a model for release of anorexigenic gut hormones such as CCK, GLP-1 and PYY.

The functional food compounds apart from the nutrients are mostly secondly metabolites in various plants. Polyphenols are part of them and compose a large family. The family contains several thousand molecules, and among them, several hundred are found in edible plants [58]. They are divided into flavonoids, phenylpropanoids and anthraquinones by the degree of polymerization of the phenol structure. Flavonoids are further divided into several groups such as flavonols, flavones, isoflavones, flavanones, and flavanols (Figure 1.1) [1]. In order to search new triggers for gut hormone release among polyphenols, at least one compound from each group were selected for the experiments of anorexigenic gut hormones.

In this chapter, first, Caco-2 cell was evaluated if it secrets anorexigenic gut hormones in response to natural secretagogues, such as amino acids, fatty acids, and sugars. Then, polyphenols are applied to Caco-2 cells to search their activity on gut hormone secretion. To clarify if this effect of polyphenols on gut hormone release arise in animal tissues or not, an *ex vivo* analysis using murine intestines was performed. As a result, Caco-2 cell was shown to secrete CCK, GLP-1 and PYY in response to nutrients. Using Caco-2 cell, chlorogenic acid, EGCg, GCg, and ferulic acid were revealed to secret anorexigenic gut hormones. The fact that stereoisomers of EGCg share the functions on gut hormone release might provide electric properties of chemicals. Especially, EGCg was shown to induce all three hormones *in vitro*.

#### (A) Flavonoids



Figure 1.1. Chemical structure of polyphenols used in this study

The names written in bold at upper position of structural drawings represent the groups, and those in the lower position represent the name of chemicals.



Figure 1.2. Chemical structures of catechins used in this study.

#### **1.2 Materials and methods**

#### 1.2.1 Chemicals.

Oleic acid and resveratrol were purchased from Wako Pure Chemical Industries (Tokyo, Japan). Phenylalanine was from Nippon Rika (Tokyo, Japan). Quercetin was obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). Apigenin and emodin were from Tokyo Chemical Industry (Tokyo, Japan). Cyanidin chloride and hesperidin were from Extrasynthese (Genay, France). Ferulic acid and genistein were from LKT Laboratories (St. Paul, MN, USA). Dipeptidyl peptidase (DPP) IV inhibitor was from Calbiochem (San Diego, CA, USA). Palmitic acid, glutamine, glucose, sucrose, chlorogenic acid hemihydrates, (-)-epicatechin (EC), (-)-catechin (C), (-)epigallocatechin (EGC), (-)-gallocatechin (GC), (-)-epicatechin-3-gallate (ECg), (-)catechin-3-gallate (Cg), EGCg, (-)-gallocatechin-3-gallate (GCg), curcumin and sodium pyruvate solution were obtained from Nacalai Tesque (Kyoto, Japan). All other chemicals were of the highest grade commercially available.

#### 1.2.2 Cell culture and treatment

All the procedures were performed at 37°C unless specifically described. Caco-2 cells were maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM, # D6429, Sigma-Aldrich) supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS) in a humidified atmosphere of 95% air-5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Cells were used from passage 54 to 58. For assays, cells were seeded into 24-well culture plate with  $2 \times 10^5$  cells per well and incubated for 24 hours. Subsequently, the medium was changed to stimulantcontaining assay buffer composed of phosphate buffered saline (PBS) containing 1 mM pyruvate and 0.1 mg/ml DPP IV inhibitor. After incubation for 2 hours, assay buffers were collected and stored at -20°C until used. According to the stimulants' solubility, the assay buffers were modified for each experiment. Oleic acid and palmitic acid were dissolved in dimethyl sulfoxide and diluted with assay buffer at 1:1000. Each tested polyphenols was dissolved in solution composed by methanol and trifluoroacetic acid as 10:1, then diluted with assay buffer at 1:200. The concentrations of stimulants for the assay are as follows: glucose and sucrose, 100 mM; glutamine, 25 mM; phenylalanine, 50 mM; oleic acid and palmitic acid, 1.5 mM; apigenin, genistein, hesperidin and quercetin, 100  $\mu$ M; cyanidin, EC, C, EGC, GC, ECg, Cg, EGCg, GCg and resveratrol, 300  $\mu$ M; chlorogenic acid and ferulic acid, 1 mM; curcumin and emodin, 50  $\mu$ M.

#### 1.2.3 RNA extraction and RT-PCR from Caco-2 cells.

Total RNA was extracted using Sepasol (Nacalai Tesque) with manufactural instructions. Two micrograms of RNA were used for cDNA synthesis with ReverTra Ace (Toyobo, Tokyo, Japan). The sequences of primers (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) for analyzed genes are shown Table 1.1. The PCR program was 30 cycles of denaturation at 98°C for 10 seconds, annealing at 56-58°C for 30 seconds and extension at 68°C for 30 seconds by iCycler (Bio-Rad, Munich, Germany). The products were detected on an agarose gel by UV irradiation with ethidium bromide.

#### 1.2.4 Cell viability assay

Cell viability was determined using the CellTiter-Glo<sup>®</sup> luminescent cell viability assay (# G7570, Promega, Madison, WI, USA). Caco-2 cells (2×10<sup>3</sup>) were seeded onto 384 well plates, incubated for 24 hours for adherence, and treated with stimulant for 2 hours. After rinse with PBS, CellTiter-Glo<sup>®</sup> reagent was added and mixed for 2 minutes on an orbital shaker to induce cell lysis, subsequently incubated at room temperature for 10 minutes. The luminescence was recorded by SH-9000 microplate reader (Corona Electric Co., Ibaraki, Japan). Cell viability was calculated by each luminescent value normalized with that of the well treated with no stimulants, and present as percentiles. The assay was performed in triplicate for each stimulant.

#### 1.2.5 Treatment of murine intestines

This study was approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (Permission number: 25-10-03) and carried out according to the Kobe University Animal Experimentation Regulations. Entire intestine of mice (ICR, male, 7 weeks, n=6) was excised and divided into duodenum, ileum and colon. Each piece of intestine was washed with Hanks' balanced salt solution (HBSS, Nacalai Tesque) and cut into length of 0.5 cm. These pieces were turned inside out and immersed in 0.25 ml of HBSS containing 0.1 mg/ml DPP IV inhibitor with or without 1 mM EGCg at 37°C for 45 minutes. Subsequently, HBSS was collected and centrifuged at 4°C for 5 minutes at 1000 *g* to remove debris. The supernatants were stored at -20°C until measured.

#### 1.2.6 ELISA

Concentration of CCK, GLP-1 and PYY was measured by ELISA (# CEK-069-04, # EK-028-11, and # EK-059-02, Phoenix Phamaceuticals. Burlingame, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions with SH-9000 microplate reader. The primary antiserum for CCK cross reacts 100% with non-sulfated CCK (26-33) (human, rat, mouse), CCK (27-33), CCK-33 (porcine), big gastrin-1 (human), caerulein, gastrin-1 (human), 42.9% with CCK-33 (human), 12.6% with CCK (30-33), and 0% with pancreatic polypeptide (human) and vasoactive intestinal polypeptide (VIP; human, porcine, rat). The primary antiserum for GLP-1 cross reacts 100% with GLP-1 (7-36) (human, rat, mouse), GLP-1 (9-36) amide, GLP-1 (1-36) amide (human), 0.4% with GLP-1 (7-37) (human, rat, mouse), 0% with calcitonin gene related peptide (CGRP), exendin-4, glucagon (human, rat, mouse, porcine, bovine), glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide, GLP-2 (human), insulin, secretin and VIP. The primary antiserum for PYY cross reacts 100% with PYY (human), PYY (3-36) (human), 5% with PYY (rat, mouse, porcine), PYY (3-36) (rat, mouse, porcine), 0% with amylin amide (human), glucagon (human), insulin (human), pancreatic polypeptide (human), porcine neuropeptide Y and substance P. Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD of individual triplicate experiments. Data were presented as means  $\pm$  SD of individual triplicate experiments.

#### 1.2.7 Statistical Analysis.

Dunnett's test was performed to analyze the data of cultured cells. The data from the assay using murine intestines were analyzed by Student's *t*-test. Provability (*p*) values below 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

Genes	Primer sequences
ACTB (β-actin)	Forward; 5'- CGTGACATTAAGGAGAAGCT-3'
	Reverse; 5'-CATACTCCTGCTTGCTGATC-3'
CCK	Forward; 5'- CGGAAACCTGGAGAACTGCG-3'
	Reverse; 5'-TATCGCAGAGAACGGATGGC-3'
GCG (proglucagon)	Forward; 5'-CCTTCAAGACACAGAGGAGAAATCC-3'
	Reverse; 5'-CCCCAACCTGTTTACATTTAGCG-3'
PCI	Forward; 5'-GGGACAGTAGTAGCTTCCCT-3'
	Reverse; 5'-CATTTCCATTCTGGCTGGGA-3'
РҮҮ	Forward; 5'-TATGGTGTTCGTGCGCAGGC-3'
	Reverse; 5'-GAGGGCCCAGACCTGTGGTGA-3'

Table 1.1. Sequence information for R	ן PCR	primers.
---------------------------------------	-------	----------

#### **1.3 Results**

#### 1.3.1 Endocrine characteristics of Caco-2 cells.

The expression of genes encoding the anorexigenic gut hormones, CCK, GLP-1 and PYY, was investigated. GLP-1 is dissociated from proglucagon by prohormone convertase 1 (PC1) during posttranslational processing [59]. RT-PCR analysis demonstrated that *CCK*, *PC1*, *GCG* (proglucagon) and *PYY* were expressed in Caco-2 cells (Figure 1.3). Together with a report that has described CCK secretion from Caco-2 cells [39], these results suggest that Caco-2 cells potentially secrete GLP-1 and PYY in addition to CCK.

#### 1.3.2 Nutrients-dependent secretion of gut hormones from Caco-2 cells.

In humans, CCK and GLP-1 are secreted in response to food intake of dietary carbohydrates, fats and proteins, whereas PYY secretion is induced by fats and proteins. The secretion of CCK, GLP-1 and PYY from Caco-2 cells was investigated by stimulating with the nutrients. Significant CCK secretion from Caco-2 cells was induced by all the tested compounds, except glutamine (Figure 1.4A). GLP-1 secretion increased by all the compounds tested (Figure 1.4B). Only two compounds, glutamine and oleic acid, stimulated PYY secretion (Figure 1.4C). The results indicate that the Caco-2 cell line was a feasible model for secretion of CCK, GLP-1 and PYY.

#### 1.3.3 Non-nutrients which induce secretion of gut hormones from Caco-2 cells.

To investigate whether polyphenols induce anorexigenic gut hormone secretion, Caco-2 cells were directly treated with polyphenols, followed by measurement of secreted hormones in the buffer. The cell viability assay was performed to confirm that the stimulants affect no damage at the each tested concentration (Figure 1.5). Among the polyphenols tested, EGCg significantly increased the secretion of CCK, GLP-1 and PYY from Caco-2 cells in 1.7, 1.8, and 2.0 fold, respectively (Figure 1.6). Ferulic acid increased CCK and GLP-1 secretion in 1.4 and 1.9 fold, respectively (Figure 1.6A and B). Chlorogenic acid increased CCK secretion in 1.3 fold (Figure 1.6A). These result indicated that some polyphenols are able to induce CCK, GLP-1 and PYY secretion.

#### 1.3.4 Gut hormones secretion from Caco-2 cells stimulated by catechins.

The induction of anorexigenic gut hormone release was compared among eight tea catechins listed in Figure 1.2. The catechins tested in this study are in pair of stereoisomers; C and EC, Cg and ECg, EGC and GC, and EGCg and GCg. Concentrations of catechins were determined by its solubility and cell viability. Catechins did not affect the cell viability of Caco-2 cells at 300 µM (Figure 1.7). When Caco-2 was stimulated, CCK secretion was induced by GC, EGCg and GCg in 1.4, 2.2 and 2.1 fold, respectively (Figure 1.8A). EGCg and GCg increased GLP-1 secretion in 2.0 and 1.7 fold and PYY secretion in 3.0 and 2.1 fold, respectively (Figure 1.8B and C). These results indicated that one pairs of stereoisomers, EGCg and GCg induced CCK, GLP-1 and PYY secretion.

# 1.3.5 Induction of anorexigenic gut hormone secretion from murine intestines by EGCg.

To show whether the candidates proved to stimulate gut hormone secretion from Caco-2 cells also induce gut hormones in the tissue level, an *ex vivo* assay was performed using the duodenum, ileum and colon from mice. EGCg was selected as the test stimulant, because it induced the secretion of all three gut hormones from Caco-2 cells (Figure 1.6). Dissected murine intestines were treated for 45 minutes with 1 mM EGCg, a concentration that is in the range of green tea [58]. The results showed that significant CCK secretion induced by EGCg was observed in the duodenum (Figure 1.9A). A slight, but not significant induction of CCK secretion was observed in the ileum and colon (Figure 1.9A). GLP-1 secretion was to be secreted from the ileum (Figure 1.9B). These results supported the notion that EGCg is able to induce anorexigenic gut hormones in animals.



#### Figure 1.3. Expression of enteroendocrine genes in Caco-2 cells.

Transcripts of *GCG* (lane 1), *PC1* (lane 2), *PYY* (lane 3) and *CCK* (lane 4) were detected by RT-PCR. *ACTB* (lane 5) was used as a positive control. Lane M shows a 100 bp DNA ladder. The expected sizes of the PCR products were 1: 758 bp, 2: 472 bp, 3: 295 bp, 4: 462 bp, and 5: 470 bp.



Figure 1.4. Secretion of gut hormones from Caco-2 cells by stimulation of dietary nutrients.

The secretion of CCK (A), GLP-1 (B), and PYY (C) from Caco-2 cells into the buffer was measured after incubation with nutrients for 2 hours. The stimulants' concentrations of were: glucose, 100 mM; sucrose, 100 mM; glutamine, 25 mM; phenylalanine, 50 mM; oleic acid, 1.5 mM and palmitic acid, 1.5 mM. A control value indicates the amount of the hormones in the assay buffer without the nutrients.\*Statistical significance was determined by Dunnett's test at p < 0.05 vs. control (n=3).



Figure 1.5. Comparative cell viabilities exposed to polyphenols.

.

Caco-2 cells were treated for 2 hours with polyphenols of indicated concentrations: quercetin, apigenin, hesperidin and genistein, 100  $\mu$ M; EGCg, cyanidin and resveratrol, 300  $\mu$ M; chlorogenic acid and ferulic acid, 1 mM; emodin and curcumin, 50  $\mu$ M, and evaluated for the cell viability compare to the control, which treated without stimulants. No statistical significance was determined by Dunnett's test at *p* < 0.05 vs. control (n=3).



Figure 1.6. Secretion of gut hormones from Caco-2 cells stimulated by polyphenols. The secretion of CCK (A), GLP-1 (B), and PYY (C) from Caco-2 cells into the buffer was measured 2 hours after incubation with the indicated polyphenols. The concentrations of each polyphenol was: quercetin, apigenin, hesperidin and genistein, 100  $\mu$ M; EGCg, cyanidin and resveratrol, 300  $\mu$ M; chlorogenic acid and ferulic acid, 1 mM; emodin and curcumin, 50  $\mu$ M. Control indicates a sample stimulated only with assay buffer. \*Statistical significance was determined by Dunnett's test at *p* < 0.05 vs. control (n=3).



Figure 1.7. Comparative cell viabilities exposed to eight catechins.

Caco-2 cells were treated for 2 hours with 300  $\mu$ M catechins. Cell viability was compared to the control, which treated without stimulants. No statistical significance was determined by Dunnett's test at *p* < 0.05 vs. control (n=3).



Figure 1.8. Secretion of gut hormones from Caco-2 cells stimulated by catechins.

The secretion of CCK (A), GLP-1 (B), and PYY (C) from Caco-2 cells was measured 2 hours after incubating with catechins. The concentration of each catechins were 300  $\mu$ M. Control indicates a sample stimulated only with assay buffer. \*Statistical significance was determined by Dunnett's test at *p* < 0.05 vs. control (n=3).



Figure 1.9. Secretion of gut hormones from murine intestines in response to EGCg.

The secretion of CCK (A) and GLP-1 (B) from inverted murine intestines was measured 45 minutes after the treatment with ( $\blacksquare$ ) or without ( $\Box$ ) 1 mM EGCg. \*Statistical significance was determined by and Student's *t*-test at *p* < 0.05 vs. each control (n=3).

#### **1.4 Discussion**

#### Caco-2 cell line as a model of gut hormone release

The Caco-2 cell line was induced to secrete CCK, GLP-1 and PYY in response to nutrients (Figure 1.4). The increase in CCK secretion by glucose, phenylalanine and oleic acid was equivalent to the experiments using humans [4, 60, 61]. Although CCK was shown to be secreted by proteins, the response to amino acids seems to be different among them, e.g., phenylalanine was shown to induce CCK secretion, whereas glutamine wasn't [62]. STC-1 cell line was derived from murine intestinal cell and has been used for a model for I cells. This cell was shown to induce secretion of CCK in response to free fatty acids and amino acids; palmitic acid and oleic acid as free fatty acids whereas phenylalanine as the most strong secretagogues among amino acids [63, 64, 65]. Caco-2 cell in this study also showed response to free fatty acids and amino acids on CCK secretion. However, the intensity of responses toward each compounds seemed to differ between the cell models, STC-1 and Caco-2. It may due to the cellular characteristics including expression of genes related to the signaling cascades from receptors to hormone secretion. Further investigation of relation analysis between gene expression and response characteristics of hormone secretion may provide some strategy underlying this contradiction.

The induction of GLP-1 by sucrose and glutamine was equivalent to that of direct induction in humans [66, 68] There is a cell line named NCI-H716 derived from a human colon tissue, proved to possess characteristics of enteroendocrinal L cells. This cell was shown to release GLP-1 in response to glucose, sucrose, oleic acid
and palmitic acid [28, 29]. A murine cell line named GLUTag cell has been also often used for GLP-1 release and was shown to respond to glutamine [69]. Caco-2 cell was considered to respond to as much stimulants as the other cell models do.

The induction of PYY by oleic acid was equivalent to that of direct induction in humans [4, 61]. There is a report showing that administration of glutamine caused a trend of elevation of PYY level in blood [70], which may support the small induction of PYY by glutamine (Figure. 1.4C). There is no evidence on PYY secretion in response to palmitic acid *in vivo*, whereas an analysis using STC-1 cell line showed slight increase of PYY by palmitic acid [71]. Though STC-1 cell provides the only cell model to work on PYY secretion, there has been only small number of experiments performed. It is not clear why *in vitro* analysis for PYY has been poorly examined, but Caco-2 cell possibly provide a new tool to work with. Taken together, Caco-2 cell was shown to secrete three anorexigenic gut hormones in response to natural secretagogues in a feasible manner with *in vivo* experiments. Hence, Caco-2 cell line is expected to provide useful model for finding the stimulants which induce the secretion of anorexigenic gut hormones.

#### Non-nutrients as the inducer of anorexigenic gut hormones

There are few reports showing that non-nutrients induce gut hormone secretion. The steroid glycoside, H.g.-12, from *Hoodia gordonii* has been shown to induce CCK secretion in HuTu-80 cells [72]. This compound has also been shown to be associated with loss of body weight [72]. Smeets *et al.* have found that capsaicin, the pungent compound in red peppers, increased amounts of GLP-1 in human plasma [73]. Cinnamon, *Cinnamomum*, was found to have effect to increase GLP-1 levels in humans and mediate satiety [74]. Methyl syringate, a pungent ingredient in *Kalopanax pictus*, has been shown to significantly suppress food intake and delay gastric emptying via elevated plasma PYY levels in mice [75]. These reports support the idea that some non-nutrients stimulate the secretion of anorexigenic gut hormones including CCK, GLP-1 and PYY, causing appetite or food intake suppression. The present study demonstrated that EGCg stimulated the gut hormone secretion from cultured Caco-2 cells (Figure 1.6 and 1.8), and from murine duodenum and ileum (Figure 1.9). It has been reported that EGCg contributes to energy expenditure [62], that its consumption correlates with weight-loss led by reduction in food intake [44]. These physiological functions of EGCg may be associated with anorexigenic gut hormones, CCK, GLP-1 and PYY secretion.

The present study also showed that ferulic acid induced the secretion of CCK and GLP-1 from Caco-2 cells (Figure 1.6A and B), and that chlorogenic acid induced CCK secretion (Figure 1.6A). Ferulic acid found in grains such as oats and rice has been shown to increase insulin secretion, delay intestinal glucose absorption, and inhibit gluconeogenesis [76]. Chlorogenic acid, which is a major polyphenol in coffee, reduces blood glucose level [77]. Besides the anorexigenic effect on the brain, CCK and GLP-1 are known to act on glucose homeostasis [75]. GLP-1 acts to stimulate glucose dependent insulin secretion, increased insulin sensitivity and inhibition of glucagon secretion [78]. CCK was known to induce glucagon release [79]. The

physiological effects of ferulic acid and chlorogenic acid on glucose homeostasis may be mediated by the stimulation of gut hormone secretion.

#### Structure-activity relationship for gut hormone release

Tea naturally contains a variety of catechins, which differ in the number of hydroxyl groups at the B-ring and the existence of a galloyl group at C-ring (Figure 1.2) [80]. Catechin is the trans isomer, and EC is the cis isomer. catechin and EC are converted to hydroxylation forms as GC and EGC, respectively. They can acylate with gallic acid to form gallate forms such as Cg, ECg, GCg and EGCg [81]. It has been reported that physiological roles of catechins are dependent on their structure [82, 83]. For example, ability to scavenge free radicals among catechins found relate with the hydroxyl groups on the B-ring and a galloyl group bound to the position 3 of the C-ring [83]. A pair of structural isomers of EGCg and GCg showed the most resembled activity each other, revealed strong induction of CCK, GLP-1, and PYY (Figure 1.8). They share a pyrogallol structure possessing three hydroxyl groups on the B-ring and galloyl group at the position 3 of the C-ring, thus these characteristics may provide stronger reactivity compare to other catechins used in this study. When the effect of green tea catechins, EC, EGC, ECg and EGCg was compared on Sprague Dawley rats, EGCg showed significant reduction of food intake, whereas other 3 catechins didn't [44]. If the structure-activity relationship would be revealed, it may offer the more active derivatives. In chapter 1, Caco-2 cell line was shown to be an in vitro model for CCK, GLP-1 and PYY secretion. Among several polyphenols,

chrologenic acid, EGCg, feluric acid, and GCg were revealed to induce one or several anorexigenic gut hormones secretion. EGCg induced the secretion of three anorexigenic gut hormones, CCK, GLP-1 and PYY *in vitro* and EGCg was shown to secrete CCK from the duodenum, and GLP-1 from the ileum in *ex vivo* experiments using murine intestines. Since a stereoisomer of EGCg, GCg showed similar activity on anorexigenic gut hormone release, the stimulation mechanism of polyphenol might relate to their electronic properties than steric characteristics. These findings suggest that polyphenols present appetite control by induction of secretion of anorexigenic gut hormones.

### **Chapter 2**

## Molecular mechanisms underlying GLP-1 secretion induced by (-) epigallocatechin-3-gallate

#### **2.1 Introduction**

The series of studies on molecular mechanisms of gut hormone secretion in enteroendocrine cells revealed the signaling cascades from receiving the stimulus until releasing hormones. Similar to other peptide hormones such as insulin, gut hormones are also secreted via exocytosis of secretory granules. The trigger of degranulation is often demonstrated as a topical increase of intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$ concentration ( $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ ) [84, 85], which caused by extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry and/or release of Ca<sup>2+</sup>from intracellular stores. Using these model cells such as GLUTag cells, it is shown that glucose and amino acids, such as glutamines, trigger depolarization resulting in  $Ca^{2+}$  entry and initiation of GLP-1 secretion [69, 86]. Medium chain fatty acids are shown to trigger release of  $Ca^{2+}$  from intracellular stores and GLP-1 secretion from the STC-1 cell line [87]. Other secretagogues for GLP-1, protein hydrolysate and fatty acids also showed elevation of intracellular calcium concentration in NCI-H716 [29, 88]. The elevation of  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  in enteroendocrine cells by stimulation will provide a strong evidence for hormone release. Figure 2.1 shows inner cellular molecular mechanisms of CCK, GLP-1 and PYY secretions in enteroendocrine cells.

The binding of ligands to transmembrane receptors generally induce structural changes which arise the inner cellular signaling transduction [89]. After being stimulated, the receptors need to be recovered to non-active form. One way of this recovery is degradation of the receptor-ligand complex in the cells. The endocytosis of those receptors triggers up-regulation of transcription of receptors [90, 91]. This phenomenon is observed in reception of food compounds as well. For example, a pungent phytochemical, capsaicin, is known to activate a member of transient receptor potential channel (TRP) subfamily V, TRPV1, and up-regulate mRNA and protein levels of TRPV1 itself after reception of capsaicin [92]. Evaluating the expression of receptors would provide a basis to screening candidates which bind to the ligands.

The induction of gut hormone release by EGCg is also expected to involve an increase of inner cellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentration. Recently, two families of receptors were shown to be activated by EGCg and induce Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx. A nociceptive receptor, TRPA1 is an ankyrin repeat containing member of the TRP channels, and transfers extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> into cytosol in response to cinnamaldehyde and allyl isothiocyanate (AITC) [93]. Identically, EGCg was shown to activate TRPA1 and triggers Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx [94]. On the other hand, human bitter taste receptor family is another receptor family which also be activated by EGCg. Two molecules, hTAS2R14 and hTAS2R39, were shown to be activated by EGCg and transmit the signal to increase Ca<sup>2+</sup> [36, 37]. Thus, hTAS2R14, hTAS2R39, and TRPA1 are considered to be the strong candidate for the mediator of gut hormone release by EGCg in enteroendocrine cells. On the

other hand, a non-integrin cell surface receptor, a 67 kDa laminin receptor (67LR) is famous to mediate EGCg stimulation in tumor cells and induces various functions, such as inhibition of cell growth, induction of apotosis, downregulation of inflammatory mediators, and inhibition of histamine release [47, 49, 95]. Especially the inhibitory function against histamine release is caused by reconstruction of cytoskeletal organization mediated by a phosphorylation signal under control of eukaryotic translation elongation factor 1A (eEF1a) [96, 97]. Since the signal downstream of 67LR-eEF1a seems to work another way to induction of degranulation, this reaction should have been investigated.

Caco-2 cell is feasible and useful especially to search stimulants for anorexigenic gut hormone in human, but this cell possesses an experimental difficulty in chemical loading [98]. This characteristic might be a disadvantage to research on inner cellular signaling. As described in chapter 1, NCI-H716 cell line derived from human colon cell possesses enteroendocrine characteristics of L cells [29]. This cell line is often used for analysis on GLP-1 release. Even, this cell line has evidence to demonstrate  $Ca^{2+}$  increase in response to protein hydrolysates [99]. Thus, NCI-H716 cell was considered to be a good alternative model cell to investigate signaling pathway of GLP-1 release.

In chapter 1, EGCg was shown to induce anorexigenic gut hormones. In Chapter 2, it is examined if signals from receptors of EGCg cause an increase in intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  level, and thereby induce degranulation which allows release of the peptide hormones. Thus, inner cellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels were evaluated after stimulation by EGCg using NCI-H716 cells.



Figure 2.1 The Ca<sup>2+</sup> dependent signaling pathways related to gut hormone secretion in the enteroendocrine cells.

Schematic drawings show the Ca<sup>2+</sup> dependent signaling pathways underling nutrients induced gut hormone secretions in enteroendocrine cells. Left: Known pairs of secretagogues and receptors for CCK secretion demonstrated in I cells or STC-1 cells. The receptor responsible for glucose in CCK secretion is still missing. Right: Known pairs of secretagogues and receptors for GLP-1 and PYY secretion demonstrated in L cells or L cell-like cultured cells. The activation of FFAR2 by SCFA shares both GLP-1 and PYY secretion. The receptor responsible for amino acids in GLP-1 secretion is still missing. GPRC6A, G-protein coupled receptor family C group 6; GPR119, G protein-coupled receptor 119; LPAR5, lysophosphatidic acid receptor 5; SCFA, short-chain fatty acids; LCFA, long-chain fatty acids.

#### 2.2 Materials and methods

#### 2.2.1 Cell culture

Caco-2 cells were maintained by the same way as Chapter 1. NCI-H716 cells were cultivated in RPMI 1640 medium (Wako Pure Chemical Industries) supplemented with 5% FBS in a humidified atmosphere of 95% air-5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Before assays, the cells were seeded on cell matrix (#637-00653, Nitta Gelatin, Osaka, Japan) and cultured in DMEM with 10% FBS for 48 hours for differentiation. NCI-H716 cells were from passage 7 to 11.

#### 2.2.2 RNA extracttion and quantitative PCR

Caco-2 cells are incubated at 37°C for 2 hours after adding phenylalanine, oleic acid, and EGCg of final concentrations of 50 mM, 1.5 mM and 300  $\mu$ M, respectively. Subsequently, total RNA of Caco-2 cells was extracted by using Sepasol (Nacalai tesque) with manufactural instructions, and then 1  $\mu$ g of RNA was used for cDNA synthesis with ReverTra Ace (Toyobo). The sequences of primers (Invitrogen) for analyzed genes are shown in Table 2.1. The program for real time qPCRs was 50 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 10 seconds, annealing at 55°C for 20 seconds and extension at 72°C for 20 seconds. The Ct values bigger than 35 were considered as too low expression to evaluate. Gene expression ratio was normalized to average of Ct values on *B2M*, *GAPDH*, *HPRT1* and *ACTB* as a housekeeping gene.

# 2.2.3 GLP-1 secretion stimulated by EGCg with pretreatment of inhibitors of EGCg candidate receptors

The inhibitors were prepared as follows; 10 mg/ml solution of anti-67LR antibody (#MS-259-PABX, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA), 20 mM DMSO solution of AP18 (Enzo Life Science, Farmingdale, NY, USA), 10 mM DMSO solution of U73122 (Cayman Chemical, Ann Arbor, MI, USA). Caco-2 cells were seeded into 24-well culture plate with  $2\times10^5$  cells per well and incubated at 37°C for 24 hours. The medium was changed to each inhibitor solution diluted with PBS containing 1 mM pyruvate at 1:1000, and incubated for 30 minutes. Then buffer was changed to 300  $\mu$ M EGCg containing assay buffer containing 0.1 mg/ml DPP IV inhibitor. After incubation for 2 hours, assay buffers were collected and stored at - 20°C until used. Concentration of GLP-1 was measured as described in Chapter 1. Data are presented as means ± SD obtained from triplicate wells.

#### 2.2.4 GLP-1 secretion from Caco-2 cell and NCI-H716 cells stimulated by EGCg

Caco-2 cells were seeded into 24-well culture plate with  $2 \times 10^5$  cells per well and incubated at 37°C for 24 hours. NCI-H716 cells were seeded into 24-well culture plate precoated with cell matrix (Nitta Gelatin) with  $2 \times 10^5$  cells per well and incubated at 37°C for 2 days. Subsequently, the medium was changed to 1 mM EGCg containing assay buffer composed of PBS containing 1 mM pyruvate and 0.1 mg/ml DPP IV inhibitor. After incubation for 45 minutes, assay buffers were collected and stored at -20°C until used. Concentration of GLP-1 was measured as described above. Data are presented as means  $\pm$  SD of triplicate experiments.

#### 2.2.5 Calcium imaging

Caco-2 cells and differentiated NCI-H716 cells were prepared in 96-well culture plate with  $4 \times 10^4$  cells per well density. The medium was removed, and the cells were incubated with 100 µl of 4 µM Fluo-8 AM (AAT Bioquest, Sunnyvale, CA, USA) in PBS for 1 hour. The cells were washed twice with PBS and placed at inverted microscope (BIOREVO, BZ 9000; Keyence, Osaka, Japan). After adding ionomycin (Nacalai tesque) and EGCg of final concentrations 50 µM and 300 µM respectively, fluorescent images were recorded by each 8 seconds for 2 minutes. The fluorescent intensity calculated from each image was analyzed to evaluate inner cellular calcium concentrations.

#### 2.2.6 Statistical Analysis

Dunnett's test was applied to compare GLP-1 secretion among samples treated with EGCg receptor related inhibitors. Student's *t*-test was applied for qPCR analysis and GLP-1 secretion analysis between stimulated by EGCg and buffer. Provability values below 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

Genes	Primer sequences		
$ACTB(\beta-actin)$	Forward; 5'-TTCTACAATGAGCTGCGTGTG-3'		
	Reverse; 5'-GGGGTGTTGAAGGTCTCAAA-3'		
B2M	Forward; 5'-ATGAGTATGCCTGCCGTGTGA-3'		
	Reverse; 5'- GGCATCTTCAAACCTCCATG-3'		
CASR	Forward; 5'- AGGAAAGGGATCATTGAGGG-3'		
	Reverse; 5'-GATGCCAGTGCCTGTAACA-3'		
GAPDH	Forward; 5'- TGCACCACCAACTGCTTAGC-3'		
	Reverse; 5'-GGCATGGACTGTGGTCATGAG-3'		
FFAR1	Forward; 5'-GCATCAACACCACGGTCAA-3'		
	Reverse; 5'-GCTTCAGCCTCTCTCTCTCT-3'		
FFAR4	Forward; 5'-GCCAGGACTGGTCATTGTG-3'		
	Reverse; 5'- GCTGTCGTGACTCACAGTG-3'		
HPRT1	Forward; 5'-TGACACTGGCAAAACAATGCA-3		
	Reverse; 5'-GGTCCTTTTCACCAGCAAGCT-3'		
TAS2R14	Forward; 5'- GGTGATGGGAATGGCTTATC-3'		
	Reverse; 5'-ACAGTAGCACTGACAGAGAG-3'		
TAS2R39	Forward; 5'-GCCATCAAAGCTATCAGCTAC-3'		
	Reverse; 5'- TGTCAAACATGTTGGACAGG-3'		
TRPA1	Forward; 5'- GCACTGGGGAAATAAGACAAG-3'		
	Reverse; 5'-AAGTAAGATCCTTCAGCCGG-3'		
67LR	Forward; 5'-AGACTGGTCTGAAGGTGTAC-3'		
	Reverse; 5'- AGCTGCAGACCAGTCTTC-3'		

 Table 2.1. Sequence information for RT-PCR primers.

#### 2.3 Results

## 2.3.1 Investigation of the up-stream pathway of GLP-1 secretion by EGCg in Caco-2 cells

To examine the involvements of EGCg receptors in induction of GLP-1 secretion, amount of GLP-1 released with selected antibody and inhibitors was measured from Caco-2 cells. Anti-67LR antibody (#MS-259-PABX) is used as a neutralizing antibody against 67LR activation. AP18 is an antagonist against TRPA1. The other inhibitor, U73122 was selected because it blocks the downstream signaling of G-proteins by inhibiting the activity of  $\beta$  subtype of phospholipase C enzymes (PLC $\beta$ ), which regulate the downstream signaling of TAS1Rs and TAS2Rs. The addition of these inhibitors hardly affected GLP-1 secretion from Caco-2 cells compared to stimulation of EGCg alone (Figure 2.2). It was not clear if this result demonstrated the incompetency on GLP-1 release by EGCg, because the intracellular signaling was not evaluated.

To see the effect of EGCg on candidate receptors directly, the expression levels of receptors after stimulation was evaluated. First, the response of the receptors involved in the reception of the natural secretagogues were examined. The qPCR was performed to compare expressing levels of *CASR* in response to phenylalanine, or *FFAR1* and *FFAR4* in response to oleic acids. Stimulation with phenylalanine increased *CASR* expression in 2.1 fold to control. Oleic acid increased 3.8 fold expression of *FFAR4*, whereas the expression of *FFAR1* was not detected. In addition, the same method was applied to evaluate the expression of candidate EGCg receptors.

After stimulation of EGCg, expression of *TAS2R39* increased 7.2 fold, but those of *T2R14*, *67LR* and *TRPA1* were not changed (Table 2.2). This result indicated that hTAS2R39 might be related to recognition of EGCg in Caco-2 cells.

#### 2.3.2 Changes in intracellular calcium concentration under stimulation of EGCg

Gut hormone secretion often requires increase in intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  concentration. Therefore, the effect of EGCg on intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  concentration was investigated. At first, Caco-2 cell was tried to be loaded with the calcium indicator, Fluo-8. However, this method applied with Caco-2 cells, an addition of an ionophore, ionomycin, did not affect inner cellular calcium increase (Figure 2.3). The other human endocrine cell line, a NCI-H716, was then analyzed for its ability of responding to EGCg. As shown in Figure 2.4, NCI-H716 was confirmed to induce GLP-1 by stimulation of 300  $\mu$ M EGCg as similar level as Caco-2 does. The loading of Fluo-8 showed detection of calcium influx by ionomycin (Figure 2.4 B), which confirm the adaptation to  $Ca^{2+}$  imaging analysis. When NCI-H716 cells were stimulated by 300  $\mu$ M of EGCg, the increase of intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  was observed from 8-16 seconds. (Figure 2.4C). These results offer the possibility that increased  $Ca^{2+}$  by EGCg is one of the pathway of secretion GLP-1.



Figure 2.2. Effect of inhibitors for EGCg receptor pathway on GLP-1 secretions from Caco-2 cells stimulated by EGCg.

The secretion of GLP-1 from Caco-2 in the buffer was measured 2 hours after incubating with 300  $\mu$ M EGCg, with the preincubation with anti-67LR antibody, TRPA1 antagonist (AP18) and PLC inhibitor (U73122). Control indicates a sample stimulated only with assay buffer. \*Statistical significance was determined by Dunnett's test at p < 0.05 vs. control (n=3).

A		
Target gene	Control	Phenylalanine
CASR	$5.0 \times 10^{-5} \pm 0.0$	$10.5 \times 10^{-5} \pm 0.0*$
В		
Target gene	Control	Oleic acid
FFAR4	$2.3 \times 10^{-4} \pm 0.0$	$8.7 \times 10^{-4} \pm 0.1^{*}$
FFARI	N.D.	N.D.
С		
Target gene	Control	EGCg
TAS2R14	$8.8 \times 10^{-3} \pm 0.2$	$10.1 \times 10^{-3} \pm 0.1$
TAS2R39	$6.1 \times 10^{-4} \pm 0.0$	$4.4 \times 10^{-3} \pm 0.0*$
67LR	$5.4 \times 1 \pm 2.6$	$4.1 \times 1 \pm 1.5$
TRPA1	$6.8 \times 10^{-6} \pm 0.0$	$7.1 \times 10^{-6} \pm 0.0$

Table 2.2. mRNA expression values of binding receptors after stimulated by ligands in Caco-2 cells.

.

Real time qPCR was performed to compare gene expressions after addition of stimulants. (A) Expression of CaSR in response to phenylalanine. (B) Expression of FFAR4 and FFAR1 in response to oleic acid. (C) Expression of candidate receptors after stimulation by EGCg. The stimulants were; 50 mM phenylalanine, 1.5 mM oleic acid, and 300  $\mu$ M EGCg. The level of expression was normalized to average of Ct values of house-keeping genes; *B2M*, *GAPDH*, *HPRT1* and *ACTB*. Statistical significance determined by and Student's *t*-test at *p* < 0.05 to each control (n=3). N.D. ;couldn't evaluate because of too low expression.



Figure 2.3. Calcium imaging on Caco-2 cells response to EGCg.

(A) Increase in intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  concentrations after adding ionomycin (left) or PBS (right) on Caco-2 cells are introduced with Fluo-8. The images were obtained immediately after adding samples (0 second) and after 24 seconds by a fluorescence microscope. (B) The traces of fluorescent intensity in individual cells by 8 seconds intervals. Scale bar ; 50 µm.



Figure 2.4. The response of NCI-H716 cells stimulated by EGCg.

(A) Alteration of GLP-1 secretions from Caco-2 cells (left) and NCI-H716 cells (right) simulated by 1 mM EGCg was evaluated. \*Statistical significance was determined by and Student's *t*-test at p < 0.05 to each control (n=3). (B) Increase in intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentrations after adding ionomycin or EGCg on NCI-H716 cells introduced with Fluo-8 was detected. The images were obtained immediately after adding samples (0 second) and after 24 seconds by a fluorescence microscope. (C) The traces of fluorescent intensity in individual cells by 8 seconds intervals. Scale bar; 50 µm.

#### **2.4 Discussion**

#### Differentiation in usage between Caco-2 and NCI-H716

In this chapter, other human cell line named NCI-H716 was also used to study gut hormone secretion in response to EGCg. NCI-H716 was derived from colon and shown to have L-cell like characteristics, thus used as an *in vitro* model for GLP-1 and PYY secretion. As described in chapter 1, the response to nutrients in GLP-1 release is similar between NCI-H716 and Caco-2 [28, 29]. In addition, the increase of GLP-1 secretion in response to EGCg was also similar (Figure 2.4A). Compare to the number of researches performed with NCI-H716 on GLP-1, there are no PYY secretion by nutrients' induction from NCI-H716. The transcriptional characteristics showed NCI-H716 expressed variety of hTAS2Rs including hTAS2R14 and hTAS2R39 as well as gustducin, which works as a binding G-protein to transmit the signals from T2Rs [100, 101], whereas Caco-2 was confirmed to express gustducin and PLC $\beta$ 2, which is an effector enzyme underlying TAS1Rs and TAS2Rs (data not shown). Since it is known that taste receptors and the down signaling molecules were expressed in enteroendocrine cells in vivo, both NCI-H716 and Caco-2 are considered to share the original characteristics of enteroendocrine cells. Regarding to the response to nutrients and the transcriptional characteristics, Caco-2 cell and NCI-H716 cell are comparable models [28, 29]. However, loading a calcium indicator into Caco-2 cell was impossible, likewise other techniques such as transfections of nucleic acids [102, 103]. Caco-2 might relatively resistant to be introduced compounds, may due to the tight connection between cells. Ionomycin is a chemical which act as ionophoric Ca<sup>2+</sup> transport traverse membrane. The addition of ionomycin clearly showed that NCI-H716, but not Caco-2, succeeded to provide the experimental basis for calcium imaging. In this sense, NCI-H716 may provide a better tool to investigate inner cellar mechanisms. However, it is not negligible that Caco-2 might be suitable to examine PYY secretion, since NCI-H716 has not been examined.

#### Possibility of hTAS2R39 being as the EGCg receptor in GLP-1 secretion

To clarify the molecular mechanism underling the EGCg induction on GLP-1 secretion, three experiments were performed considering candidate four receptors; 67LR, hTAS2R14, hTAS2R39, and TRPA1. The 67LR neutralizing antibody didn't affect GLP-1 secretion by EGCg nor TRPA1 antagonist didn't affect GLP-1 secretion by EGCg, nor U73122 inhibit the downstream of GPCR, such as hTAS2Rs. The gene expression analysis showed only *hTAS2R39* was up-regulated, which is similar to those of *CASR* in response to phenylalanine and *FFAR4* in response to oleic acid. When changes of  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  was detected after stimulating EGCg by fluorescent indicator, Fluo-8, NCI-H716 cells showed increase of fluorescence, which demonstrate that  $Ca^{2+}$  influx arose under stimulation of EGCg.

An up-regulation of transcripts of hTAS39 by EGCg stimulation would provide verification for its involvement of EGCg-dependent inner cellular signaling. The downstream signaling was considered to be G-protein mediated pathway (Figure 2.1). The signal downstream of GPCRs depends on the coupling G-proteins. It is well known that TAS2Rs activate PLC resulting in elevation of  $[Ca^{2+}]_I$  in mainly taste receptor cells. On the other hand, there seems to be some other pathways to initiate

GLP-1 release in enteroendocrine cells. An elevation of cyclic AMP (cAMP) triggers GLP-1 release via  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  elevation in GLUTag cells [104] (Figure 2.5 A left). Phosphodiesterase (PDE) regulates the cellular levels of cAMP downstream of glucose [105]. A stimulation of denatonium benzoate, which activate TAS2Rs, induced GLP-1 secretion via PDE activation, independent to  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  in NCI-H716 cells [100] (Figure 2.5A right). The candidate receptor for EGCg in enteroendocrine cells estimated as hTAS2R39, which shares the expression profile with both TAS1Rs and TAS2Rs. It is possible that the stimulation of EGCg might mediate its signal via PLC independent pathway (Figure 2.5B). The evaluation of intracellular cAMP levels would provide more strong evidence for possible pathways for GLP-1 release under TAS2Rs. Another reason for the conflicting result with PLC activation would be caused by unsuccessful permeation of U73122 into Caco-2 cells. The proof would be provided by the direct evaluation of activity of PLC such as measuring IP<sub>3</sub> and diacylglycerol. As shown in Figure 2.4,  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  was elevated by stimulation of EGCg. The requirement of  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  for GLP-1 secretion by EGCg will be confirmed by measuring GLP-1 under depleting extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> or addition of blocker of voltage dependent calcium channels. Altogether, the mechanism of EGCg stimulation on GLP-1 release in Caco-2 cells was shown to possibly involve hTAS2R39 and subsequent  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  elevation. It is shown that EGCg induced an elevation of  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  in NCI-H716 cells, which supports the idea that GLP-1 release was occurred via elevation of  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  in response to EGCg. The candidate receptor for EGCg in intestinal cells is estimated as hTAS2R39 from gene expression analysis using Caco-2. The conflicting result showing the non-effectiveness of the inhibitor for PLC on the secretion of GLP-1 by EGCg stimulation, might due to a concurrent contribution to degranulation, such as cAMP dependent pathway (Figure 2.5B). Through the analysis in this chapter, a molecular mechanism to secrete GLP-1 stimulated by EGCg is partially revealed. The expected signaling is activation of TAS2R followed by elevation of  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  and subsequent exocytosis of secretion granules. Further experiments such as gene knock down analysis by RNA interference would be needed to confirm the whole pathway.



Figure 2.5 Intracellular signaling pathways underling GLP-1 secretion of taste receptors

Schematic drawings of the intracellular signaling pathways for GLP-1 secretion in cultured cells stimulated by denatonium benzoate, glucose or glutamine, and EGCg. (A) Left: The signaling cascades inducing elevation of  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  stimulated by glucose or glutamine. The molecules framed in red indicate the factors whose activity is confirmed in murine GLUTag cells [79]. Right: GLP-1 is released through both  $Ca^{2+}$  dependent and independent pathways by stimulation of denatonium benzoate. The molecules framed in red indicate the factors whose activity is confirmed in human NCI-H716 cells [22]. (B) The summary of the result obtained in this study. The involvement of hTAS2R39 was expected by PCR analysis in human Caco-2 cells, and elevation of  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  was demonstrated in human NCI-H716 cells. The involvement of PLC was disproven in Caco-2 cells. AC, adenylcyclase; cAMP, cyclic AMP; DAG, diacylglycerol; PDE, phosphodiesterase; PIP<sub>2</sub>, phosphatidylinositol 4,5-diphosphate; PKA, protein kinase A; PKC, protein kinase C; PLC, phospholipase C; VDCC, voltage-dependent calcium channel.

### **Chapter 3**

# Effect of (-) epigallocatechin-3-gallate on the regulation of food intake

#### **3.1 Introduction**

The control of feeding and energy expenditure is a homeostatic process. This process is taken place in several regions of brain; the arcuate nucleus (ARC), and the dorsal vagal complex in the hypothalamus [90]. The anorexigenic gut hormones are transmitted via blood circulation or vagus nerves to brain and affect hypothalamus.

CCK and PYY signals reach hypothalamus mostly via a neural pathway to the brainstem [106, 107]. GLP-1 receptors are found in large part of brain regions involving ARC and the brainstem, in addition to various peripheral tissues such as vagus nerves [108]. The fact that both central and peripheral administration of GLP-1 to rats inhibits food intake means that this hormone effect directly on brain and also from periphery through vagus nerves [109]. Peripheral administration of CCK in rodents and humans led to a decrease in meals size [110, 111]. Intravenous administration of an antagonist of CCK receptor in humans decreases satiety and increase hunger and meals size [112]. Also, central and peripheral injection of PYY in rodents results in food intake reduction [113]. It seems that PYY is more effective in obese condition; Intravenous administration of PYY in obese people resulted in a comparable decreasing in food intake when compared with normal controls [114]. It

is also demonstrated that the intraperitoneal administration of CCK, GLP-1 and PYY diminish the food intake [90, 91, 115].

It is known that non-nutritional secretagogue for gut hormones affect regulation of food intake, *e. g.*, cinnamaldehyde and methyl syringate suppress food intake via anorexigenic gut hormone [74]. Cinnamaldehyde and methyl syringate induced PYY secretion in mice [75]. Cinnamaldehyde and methyl syringate administered orally at a dose of 10 mg/kg after fasting induced reduce of food intake in mice [74].

According to chapter 1, showing that EGCg induces CCK, GLP-1 and PYY secretion from cultured intestinal cells. Furthermore, EGCg induces CCK and GLP-1 secretion in dissociated murine intestines. Because of these results, the physiological effect of EGCg was investigated by evaluating meal size during each 2 hours for successive 24 hours in mice.

#### **3.2 Materials and methods**

#### 3.2.1 Evaluation of food intake

The study was approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (Permission number: 25-10-03) and carried out according to the Kobe University Animal Experimentation Regulations. Male ICR mice (9 weeks old) weighing 37-44 g were used to evaluate food consumption. Mice are first acclimated to laboratory condition at 23 °C with a 12 hours light-dark cycle for 1 week. Mice were orally administrated with water, 2 mM EGCg solution, or 2 mM EC solution of 200  $\mu$ l/mouse just before a dark cycle at 8 o'clock PM, and were allowed *ad libitum* access to food (Japan SLC) and drinking water. The amount of food left in the individual cage was weighed at every two hours for 24 hours. Subtraction between the left food amounts was calculated to obtain food consumption in each 2 hours. Data were presented as means ± SEM of five mice.

#### 3.2.2 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using Student's *t*-test. Probability values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

#### 3.3 Result

#### 3.3.1 Alteration of food consumption by EGCg

The food consumption was measured in every 2 hours after administration of EGCg or water. As shown in Figure 3.1A, food consumption after 2 hours is significantly less in EGCg administrated mice compare to control. When the amount of food cumulated, there was no significant difference between the groups later than 4 hours after administration. The result indicated that the effect of EGCg on food consumption was observed in 2 hours as a reduction of food intake.

#### 3.3.2 Epicatechin doesn't induce reduction of food intake

Epicatechin (EC) shares basic structure of EGCg but doesn't induce anorexigenic gut hormones (Figure 1.8). EC was administrated in the same way to EGCg and evaluated the food consumption. As shown in Figure 3.2A, food consumption in each 2 hours after administration of EC showed no difference to control for 24 hours, while EGCg showed significant reduction in the first 2 hours. The cumulated food consumption also didn't change by EC compare to control. EC did not induce secretion of anorexigenic hormones or reduction of food intake. This result suggests that anorexigenic hormone release by EGCg affect reduction of food intake.



Figure 3.1. Effect of EGCg on food consumption for 24 hours.

The 24 hours records of food consumption of mice administrated 200  $\mu$ l of water or EGCg (2 mM). (A) Consumed food amount for every 2 hours was shown for EGCg dosed mice (, solid line) and water dosed mice b(teak line). (B) Cumulative food intake after administration was shown by 2 hours for EGCg dosed mice (gray bar) and water dosed mice (white bar). \*Statistical significance was determined by and Student's *t*-test at *p* < 0.05 vs. each control (n=5).



Figure 3.2. Effect of EGCg and EC on food consumption for 24 hours.

The 24 hours records of food consumption of mice administrated 200 µl of water, EGCg (2 mM) or EC (2 mM). (A) Consumed food amount for every 2 hours was shown for EC dosed mice ( $\blacktriangle$ , dotted line), EGCg dosed mice ( $\blacksquare$ , solid line) and water dosed mice ( $\bullet$ , break line). (B) Cumulative food intake after administration was shown by 2 hours for EC dosed mice (black bar), EGCg dosed mice (gray bar) and water dosed mice (white bar). \*Statistical significance was determined by and Student's *t*-test at *p* < 0.05 vs. each control (n=5).

#### **3.4 Discussion**

#### Secretion dynamics of gut hormones

The secreted GLP-1 is rapidly inactivated by DPP IV, which cleaves off the Nterminal 2 amino acids of GLP-1 [116]. This degradation occurred very quickly, so that the half-life time of intact GLP-1 is estimated as less than 2 minutes. Thus, the effect of GLP-1 is expected to continue only during the secreted period and doesn't last long. The hormones secreted in plasma have a peak time of concentration. Concentration of GLP-1 in plasma in the empty stomach state is generally between the 5-10 pmol/L, and increase rapidly to 15-50 pmol/L after eating a meal in human [4, 117]. In human, concentration of CCK in plasma is below 1 pmol/L in hungry condition to increase 5-10 pmol/L in satiety condition; whereas concentration of PYY in plasma is about 10 pmol/L in hungry condition to increase 20-25 pmol/L [118, 119]. GLP-1 is elevated in 5-30 minutes after food intake, reaching peak around 40 min [120]. PYY is increased in 15-30 minutes and CCK is 10-30 minutes after food intake [121, 122]. A range of experiments administrating anorexigenic hormones showed that the effect on food intake reduction was exhibited in 2-4 hours after administration. The observation of the reduction of food consumption during the first 2 hours after administration of EGCg (Figure 3.1A) speculates a relationship between anorexigenic effect of EGCg and anorexigenic gut hormones. As well as the result obtained by administration of EC, which had no effect on anorexigenic gut hormones, CCK, GLP-1 and PYY release in vitro (Figure 1.8) and on reduction of

food intake *in vivo* (Figure 3.2), it is probable that EGCg affect regulation of feeding behavior via secretion of anorexigenic gut hormones, CCK, GLP-1, and PYY.

# Contribution of gut hormones on regulation of food intake and energy expenditure

One should balance the energy expenditure and supplementation in both short term and long term. To keep a good balance for total body energy, feeding behavior should be regulated correctly. Hypothalamus is considered to control food intake, since the lesion of that area decisively alters animals' feeding behavior [3]. The area is largely divided into two; ventromedial nucleus as the satiety center and lateral hypothalamus as the fasting center [123]. The area where the neurons directly receive signals is arcuate nucleus, located at the bottom of hypothalamus. The signals transmitted to this feeding center are hormones secreted from gastrointestinal tract and adipocytes [124]. Leptin, a hormone secreted from adipose tissue, is known as a long term satiety hormone. It is revealed that this gene responsible for obesity, especially related to feeding behavior by mediating energy consumption [125, 126]. On the other hand, the gut hormones, such as CCK, GLP-1 and PYY are known as a short term signal for satiation. They convey direct postprandial satiety signals to hypothalamus at ARC region, which is known to control energy and glucose metabolism [123]. It is probable that the gut hormones tightly relate to energy control.

Oral administration of EGCg for  $0.4 \mu mol$  per mouse altered the food consumption in first 2 hours about half of that of control (Figure 3.1A). After reducing food consumption during the first 2 hours, the cumulated food consumption

at 4 hours after administration was recovered to the level of control (Figure 3.1B). This might mean a normal control of feeding behavior related to whole body energy balance including the information not only from gut hormones but also other signals such as leptin. There is a report showing the chronic effect on a range of biochemical markers by administration of EGCg for 7 days using Sparague Dawley rats [44]. Male rats orally given 15 mg of EGCg for 7 days exhibited reduction in food intake at 15% from control, though body weight showed no difference. The serum concentrations of hormones which correlate with food intake were shown by 30% reduction for leptin, but not insulin. The dosage of EGCg used in that report was ten times higher, and the alteration of food intake was demonstrated as a result of repeated treatment. The effect of reduction of food intake by single administration of EGCg in palatable dose provides a new function of EGCg. Further experiment such as evaluation of food consumption in EGCg receptor knock out mice would be needed to clarify the involvement of gut hormones in feeding control by EGCg.

When male Sprague Dawley rats were injected intraperitoneally with green tea catechins, EC, EGC, ECg and EGCg (each 85 mg/kg body weight) for 7 days, their food intake decreased for 50–60% by EGCg, whereas EC, EGC and ECg did not show any effect [44].

In this chapter, the effect of EGCg on food intake was investigated *in vivo*. The cumulated food consumption during after 2 hours of EGCg administration detected significantly less than control. The effect for reduction of food intake might due to the

anorexigenic hormones, CCK, GLP-1 and PYY secreted from intestine in response to EGCg. The amount of EGCg dosed to mice was practical when calculated to human. Accordingly, it is expected that about 2 cup of green tea will affect human to reduce appetite, which will be possible to help from excessive eating.

### Conclusion

This study demonstrated that some polyphenols induce secretion of anorexigenic gut hormones such as CCK, GLP-1 and PYY. These findings will provide a new perspective on polyphenols as endocrine inducers and on their potential function in appetite regulation, which in turn controls energy balance.

In chapter 1, it was firstly proven that some polyphenols such as EGCg, GCg, GC, chlorogenic acid, and ferulic acid released anorexigenic gut hormones *in vitro*. Particularly, EGCg secreted all three hormones. In an *ex vivo* assay using murine intestines, EGCg also induced secretion of anorexigenic gut hormones. EGCg, the major flavonoid found in green tea, has been reported to have an effect in food intake reduction. These facts support the possibility that food intake reduction by EGCg is related in anorexigenic gut hormone release.

In chapter 2, it was shown that intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentrations were increased responding to EGCg in NCI-H716 cells. Among candidates of EGCg receptors, hTAS2R39 are expected to be the receptor of EGCg for release of GLP-1 from gene expression analysis. The 67LR antibody did not affect gut hormone secretion and the TRPA1 antagonist did not affect gut hormone secretion, so these receptors seemed to be unrelated to secretion of gut hormone by EGCg. Analysis to inhibit PLC activity which is estimated to be the downstream of GPCR also showed no effect on GLP-1

release, speculated other pathway between hTAS2R39 and elevation of  $Ca^{2+}$  concentration.

In chapter 3, orally administration of EGCg to mice was performed to evaluate its effect on food intake. The food consumption during 2 hours after administration of EGCg was suppressed, and food intake during a short time *in vivo*. By contrast of administration of EC, which did not induce anorexigenic hormones, had no change in food consumption. These results suggest that food intake reduction by EGCg, may be related in anorexigenic gut hormone secretion.

This study showed that EGCg can induce anorexigenic gut hormone, which in turn supports that EGCg might affect appetite via gut hormones. Anti-obesity effect of EGCg has shown to act after being absorbed into the body, however, the bioavailability of absorbed EGCg is very little since polyphenols is hard to be absorbed and released from body in short term [1, 23]. Here, gut hormone release by reception in intestinal tract does not require a process of absorption, so is expected to have high bioavailability of EGCg. The anti-obesity effect of EGCg via anorexigenic gut hormone release has not been shown. Thus, the whole study here proposes a novel biological function of EGCg.
## References

- Scalbert, A., Manach, C., Morand, C., Rémésy, C., Jiménez, L. Scalbert, A., Manach, C., Morand, C., Rémésy, C., Jiménez, L. Dietary polyphenols and the prevention of diseases. *Crit. Rev. Food. Sci. Nutr.* 45, 287-306 (2005).
- 2. Murphy, K. G. & Bloom, S. R. Gut hormones and the regulation of energy homestasis. *Nature*. **444**, 854-859 (2006).
- 3. Konturek, S.J., Konturek, T., Pawlik, T. & Brozozowki, T. Brain-gut-axis and its role in the control of food intake. *J. Phy. Pham.* **55**, 137-153 (2004).
- Moran-Ramos, S., Tovar, A.R. & Torres, N. Diet: friend or foe of enteroendocrine cells: how it interacts with enteroendocrine cells. *Adv. Nutr.* 3, 8-20 (2012).
- Moran, T.H. & Kinzig, K.P. Gastrointestinal satiety signals II. Cholecystokinin. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 286, G183-G188 (2004).
- Murphy, K. G. & Bloom, S. R. Gut hormones and the regulation of energy homestasis. *Nature*. 444, 854-859 (2006).

- Langhans, N., Rindi, G., Chiu, M., Rehfeld, J.F., Ardman, B., Beinborn, M. & Kopin, A.S. Abnormal gastric histology and decreased acid production in cholecystokinin B/gastrin receptor-deficient mice. *Gastroenterology*, **112**, 280-286 (1997).
- Noble, F., Wank, S.A., Crawley, J.N., Bradwejn, J., Seroogy, K.B., Hamon, M. & Roques, B.P. International Union of Pharmacology. XXI. Structure, distribution, and functions of cholecystokinin receptors. *Pharmacol Rev*, **51**, 745-81 (1999)
- Pei, Z. From the bench to the bedside: dipeptidyl peptidase IV inhibitors, a new class of oral antihyperglycemic agents. *Curr Opin Drug Discov Devel*, 11, 512-32 (2008)
- Knudsen, L.B., Pridal, L. Glucagon-like peptide-1-(9-36) amide is a major metabolite of glucagon-like peptide-1-(7-36) amide after in vivo administration to dogs, and it acts as an antagonist on the pancreatic receptor. *Eur J Pharmacol*, **318**, 429-35 (1996).
- Batterham, R.L., Cohen, M.A., Ellis, S.M., Le, Roux, C.W., Withers, D.J., Frost, G.S., Ghatei, M.A. & Bloom, S.R. Inhibition of food intake in obese subjects by peptide YY3–36. *N Engl J Med.* 349, 941-948 (2003).

- Mentlein, R., Dahms, P., Grandit, D. & Kruger, R. Proteolytic processing of neuropeptide Y and peptide YY by dipeptidyl peptidase IV. *Regul Pept.* 49, 133-144 (1993).
- Grandt, D., Teyssen, S., Schimiczek, M., Reeve, J.R. Feth, F., Rascher, W., Hirche, H., Singer, M.V., Layer, P. & Goebell, H. Novel generation of hormone receptor specificity by amino terminal processing of peptide YY. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 186, 1299-1306 (1992).
- 14. Abbott, C.R., Small, C.J., Kennedy, A.R., Neary, N.M., Sajedi, A., Ghatei, M.A., Bloom, S.R. Blockade of the neuropeptide Y Y2 receptor with the specific antagonist BIIE0246 attenuates the effect of endogenous and exogenous peptide YY(3–36) on food intake. *Brain Res*, 1043, 139–44 (2005).
- Batterham, R.L, Cowley, M.A., Small, C.J., Herzog, H., Cohen, M.A., Dakin,
   C.L., Wren, A.M., Brynes, A.E., Low, M.J., Ghatei, M.A., Cone, R.D.,
   Bloom, S.R. Gut hormone PYY(3–36) physiologically inhibits food intake.
   *Nature*, 418, 650–654 (2002).
- 16. Daaka, Y., Pitcher, J. A., Richardson, M., Stoffel, R. H., Robishaw, J. D. & Lefkowitz RJ. Receptor and G betagamma isoform-specific interactions with G protein-coupled receptor kinases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 18, 2180-2185 (1997).

- Cox, H.M. Peptide YY: a neuroendocrine neighbor of note. *Peptides*, 28, 345-351 (2007).
- Näslund, E. & Hellström, P.M. Appetite signaling: from gut peptides and enteric nerves to brain. *Physiol Behav*, **92**, 256-62 (2007).
- C., and van den Pol, A.N. Peptide YY(336) inhibits both anorexigenic proopiomelanocortin and orexigenic neuropeptide Y neurons: implications for hypothalamic regulation of energy homeostasis. *J Neurosci*, 25, 10510-10519 (2005).
- Li, X., Staszewski, L., Xu, H., Durick, K., Zoller, M. & Adler, E. Human receptors for sweet and umami taste. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 9, 4692-4696 (2002).
- 21. Conigrave, A.D., Mun, H.C. & Lok, H.C. Aromatic L-amino acids activate the calcium-sensing receptor. *J Nutr.* **137**, 1524S-1527S (2007).
- Hira, T., Nakajima, S., Eto, Y. & Hara, H. Calcium-sensing receptor mediates phenylalanine-induced cholecystokinin secretion in enteroendocrine STC-1 cells. *FEBS J.* 275, 4620-4626 (2008).
- Wellendorph, P., Hansen, K.B., Balsgaard, A., Greenwood, J.R., Egebjerg, J& Bräuner-Osborne, H. Deorphanization of GPRC6A: a promiscuous L-

alpha-amino acid receptor with preference for basic amino acids. *Mol Pharmacol.* **67**, 589-597 (2004).

- Haid, D., Widmayer, P. & Voigt, A. Gustatory sensory cells express a receptor responsive to protein breakdown products (GPR92). *Histochem Cell Biol.* 140, 137-145 (2013).
- 25. Ichimura, A., Hirasawa, A., Hara, T. & Tsujimoto, G. Free fatty acid receptors act as nutrient sensors to regulate energy homeostasis. *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat.* 89, 82-88 (2009).
- Hara, T., Hirasawa, A., Sun, Q., Sadakane, K., Itsubo, C., Iga, T., Adachi, T., Koshimizu, T.A., Hashimoto, T., Asakawa, Y. & Tsujimoto, G. Novel selective ligands for free fatty acid receptors GPR120 and GPR40. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol.* 380, 247-255 (2009).
- Mo, X.L., Wei, H.K., Peng, J. & Tao, Y.X. Free fatty acid receptor GPR120 and pathogenesis of obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Am. J. Prog. Mol. Biol. Transl. Sci.* 114, 251-276 (2013).
- Jang, H.J., Kokrashvili, Z., Theodorakis, M.J., Carlson, O.D., Kim, B.J., Zhou, J., Kim, H.H., Xu, X., Chan, S.L., Juhaszova, M., Bernier. M., Mosinger, B., Margolskee, R.F. & Egan, J.M. Gut-expressed gustducin and taste receptors regulate secretion of glucagon-like peptide-1. *PNAS.* 104, 15069-15074 (2007).

- Reimer, R.A., Darimont, C., Gremlich, S., Nicolas-Métral, V., Rüegg, U.T., Katherine, M. A human cellular model for studying the regulation of glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion. *Endocrinology*. 142, 4522-4528 (2001).
- Liou, A.P., Sei, Y., Zhao, X., Feng, J., Lu, X., Thomas, C., Pechhold, S., Raybould, H.E. & Wank, S.A. The extracellular calcium-sensing receptor is required for cholecystokinin secretion in response to L-phenylalanine in acutely isolated intestinal I cells. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol.* 300, G538-G546 (2011).
- 31. Oya, M., Kitaguchi, T., Pais, R., Reimann, F., Gribble, F. & Tsuboi, T. The G protein-coupled receptor family C group 6 subtype A (GPRC6A) receptor is involved in amino acid-induced glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion from GLUTag cells. *J Biol Chem.* 15, 4513-4521 (2013).
- Choi, S., Lee, M., Shiu, A.L., Yo, S.J., Halldén, G. & Aponte, G.W. GPR93 activation by protein hydrolysate induces CCK transcription and secretion in STC-1 cells. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, **292**, G1366-G1375 (2007).
- 33. Hirasawa, A., Tsumaya, K., Awaji, T., Katsuma, S., Adachi, T., Yamada, M., Sugimoto, Y., Miyazaki, S. & Tsujimoto, G. Free fatty acids regulate gut incretin glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion through GPR120. *Nat Med.* **11**, 90-94 (2005).

- Meyerhof, W., Batram, C., Kuhn, C., Brockhoff, A., Chudoba, E., Bufe, B.,
   Appendino, G., & Behrens, M. The molecular receptive ranges of human
   TAS2R bitter taste receptors. *Chem.Senses.* 35, 157-170 (2010).
- Soares, S., Kohl, S., Thalmann, S., Mateus, N., Meyerhof, W. & De Freitas,
   V. Different phenolic compounds activate distinct human bitter taste receptors. J. Agric. Food Chem. 61, 1523-1533. (2013).
- 36. Yamazaki, T., Narukawa, M., Mochizuki, M., Misaka, T. & Watanabe, T. Activation of the hTAS2R14 human bitter-taste receptor by (-)epigallocatechin gallate and (-)-epicatechin gallate. *Biosci Biotechnol Biochem.* 77, 1981-1983 (2013).
- 37. Narukawa, M., Noga, C., Ueno, Y., Sato, T., Misaka, T. & Watanabe, T. Evaluation of the bitterness of green tea catechins by a cell-based assay with the human bitter taste receptor hTAS2R39. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 405, 620-625 (2011).
- Kim, K.S., Egan, J.M. & Jang, H.J. Denatonium induces secretion of glucagon-like peptide-1 through activation of bitter taste receptor pathways. *Diabetologia*. 57, 2117-2125 (2014).
- Jeon, T.I., Seo, Y.K. & Osborne, T.F. Gut bitter taste receptor signaling induces ABCB1 through a mechanism involving CCK. *Biochem J.* 438, 33-37 (2011).

- Wang, S., Moustaid-Moussa, N., Chen, L., Mo, H., Shastri, A., Su, R., Bapat,
  P., Kwun I. & Shen, C.L. Novel insights of dietary polyphenols and obesity. *J Nutr Biochem.* 25, 1-18 (2014).
- He, R.R., Chen. L., Lin, B.H., Matsui, Y., Yao, X.S. & Kurihara, H. Beneficial effects of oolong tea consumption on diet-induced overweight and obese subjects. *Chin J Integr Med.* 15, 34-41 (2009).
- 42. Tsao, R. Chemistry and biochemistry of dietary polyphenols. *Nutrients*. **12**, 1231-1246 (2010).
- Braicu, C., Ladomery, M.R., Chedea, V.S., Irimie., A. & Berindan-Neagoe I. The relationship between the structure and biological actions of green tea catechins. *Food Chem.*141, 3282-3289 (2013).
- Kao, Y.H., Hiipakka, R.A., Liao, S. Modulation of endocrine systems and food intake by green tea epigallocatechin gallate. *Endocrinology*. 141, 980-987 (2000).
- 45. Dulloo, A. G., Duret, C. & Rohrer, D. Efficacy of a green tea extract rich in catechin polyphenols and caffeine in increasing 24-h energy expenditure and fat oxidation in humans. *Am J Clin Nutr.* **70**, 1040–1045 (1999).
- 46. Shahidi, F. Antioxidants in food and food antioxidants. *Nahrung*, **44**, 158–163 (2000).

- Auvichayapat, P., Prapochanung, M., Tunkamnerdthai, O., Sripanidkulchai, B.O., Auvichayapat, N., Thinkhamrop, B., Kunhasura, S., Wongpratoom, S., Sinawat, S. & Hongprapas, P. Effectiveness of green tea on weight reduction in obese Thais: A randomized, controlled trial. *Physiol Behav.* 93, 486-491 (2008).
- 48. Yan, J., Zhao Y, & Zhao B. Green tea catechins prevent obesity through modulation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors. *Sci China Life Sci.* 56, 804-810 (2013).
- Wang, S., Noh, S.K. & Koo, S.I. Green tea catechins inhibit pancreatic phospholipase A(2) and intestinal absorption of lipids in ovariectomized rats. *J Nutr Biochem.* 17, 492-498 (2006).
- Wang, S., Moustaid-Moussa, N., Chen, L., Mo, H., Shastri, A., Su, R., Bapat,
   P., Kwun, I. & Shen, C.L. Novel insights of dietary polyphenols and obesity.
   *J Nutr Biochem.* 25, 1-18 (2014).
- Forester, S.C., Gu, Y. & Lambert, J.D. Inhibition of starch digestion by the green tea polyphenol, (-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* 56, 1647-1654 (2012).
- Karaki, S. Expression of the short-chain fatty acid receptor, GPR43, in the human colon. J. Mol. Histol. 39, 135-142 (2008).

- 53. Tazoe, H. Expression of short-chain fatty acid receptor GPR41 in the human colon. *Biomed. Res.* **30**, 149-156 (2009).
- 54. Janssen, S. & Depoortere, I. Nutrient sensing in the gut: new roads to therapeutics?. *Trends Endocrinol Metab.* **24**, 92-100 (2013).
- 55. Moran, G.W., Leslie, F.C., Levison, S.E. & McLaughlin, J.T. Enteroendocrine cells: neglected players in gastrointestinal disorders? *Therap Adv Gastroenterol.* 1, 51–60 (2008).
- 56. Höcker, M., Wiedenmann, B. Molecular mechanisms of enteroendocrine differentiation. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* **859**, 160-74 (1998).
- Facer, P., Bishop, A.E., Lloyd, R.V., Wilson, B.S., Hennessy, R.J. & Polak,
   J.M. Chromogranin: a newly recognized marker for endocrine cells of the human gastrointestinal tract. *Gastroenterology*. 89, 1366-1373 (1985).
- Manach, C., Scalbert, A., Morand, C., Rémésy, C. & Jiménez L. Polyphenols: food sources and bioavailability. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 79, 727-47 (2004).
- 59. Dhanvantari, S., Izzo, A., Jansen, E. & Brubaker, P.L. Coregulation of glucagon-like peptide-1 synthesis with proglucagon and prohormone convertase 1 gene expression in enteroendocrine GLUTag cells. *Endocrinology.* 142, 37-42 (2001).

- Ballinger, A.B. & Clark, M.L. L-phenylalanine releases cholecystokinin (CCK) and is associated with reduced food intake in humans: evidence for a physiological role of CCK in control of eating. *Metabolism.* 43, 735-738 (1994).
- Damgard, M., Graff, J., Fuglsang, S., Holst, J.J., Rehfeld, J.F. & Madsen, J.L.
   Effects of oleic acid and olive oil on gastric emptying, gut hormone secretion and appetite in lean and overweight or obese males. *ESPEN. J.* 8, e8-e14 (2013).
- Stephens, J.R., Woolson, R.F. & Cooke, A.R. Effects of essential and nonessential amino acids on gastric emptying in the dog. *Gastroenterology*. 69, 920-927 (1975).
- 63. Liddle, R.A. Cholecystokinin. In: Gut Peptides, edited by Walsh JH, Dockray GJ, editors. *New York: Raven.* 94, 175-216 (1994).
- 64. Sundaresan, S., Shahid, R., Riehl, T.E., Chandra, R., Nassir, F., Stenson,
  W.F., Liddle, R.A. & Abumrad, N.A. CD36-dependent signaling mediates fatty acid-induced gut release of secretin and cholecystokinin. *FASEB J.* 27, 1191-1202 (2013).
- 65. Cordier-Bussat, M., Bernard, C., Haouche, S., Roche, C., Abello, J., Chayvialle, J. A. & Cuber, J. C., Peptones stimulate cholecystokinin

secretion and gene transcription in the intestinal cell line STC-1. Endocrinology. **138**, 1137-1144 (1997).

- Tolhurst, G., Reimann F, Gribble FM. Nutritional regulation of glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion. *J Physiol.* 15, 27-32 (2009).
- 67. Krog-Mikkelsen, I., Hels, O., Tetens, I., Holst, J.J., Andersen, J.R. & Bukhave, K. The effects of L-arabinose on intestinal sucrase activity: doseresponse studies in vitro and in humans. *Am J Clin Nutr.* **94**, 472-478 (2011).
- Greenfield, J.R., Farooqi, I.S., Keogh, J.M., Henning, E., Habib, A.M., Blackwood, A., Reimann, F., Holst, J.J. & Gribble, F.M. Oral glutamine increases circulating glucagon-like peptide 1, glucagon, and insulin concentrations in lean, obese, and type 2 diabetic subjects. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 89, 106-113 (2009).
- Reimann, F., Williams, L., da Silva Xavier, G., Rutter, G.A. & Gribble, F.M.
   Glutamine potently stimulates glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion from
   GLUTag cells. *Diabetologia*. 47, 1592-1601 (2004).
- 70. Takeuti, T.D., Terra, G.A., da Silva AA,, Terra, J.A. J., da Silva, L.M. & Crema, E. Effect of the ingestion of the palm oil and glutamine in serum levels of GLP-1, PYY and glycemia in diabetes mellitus type 2 patients submitted to metabolic surgery. *Arq Bras Cir Dig.* 27, 51-55 (2014).

- Geraedts, M.C., Troost, F.J. & Saris, W.H. Peptide-YY is released by the intestinal cell line STC-1. *J Food Sci.* 74, H79-H82 (2009).
- 72. Le Nevé, B., Foltz, M., Daniel, H. & Gouka, R. The steroid glycoside H.g.-12 from Hoodia gordonii activates the human bitter receptor TAS2R14 and induces CCK release from HuTu-80 cells. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver. Physiol.* 299, G1368-G1375 (2010).
- Smeets, A.J. & Westerterp-Plantenga, M.S. The acute effects of a lunch containing capsaicin on energy and substrate utilisation, hormones, and satiety. *Eur. J. Nutr.* 48, 229-234 (2009).
- 74. Hlebowicz, J., Hlebowicz, A., Lindstedt, S., Björgell, O., Höglund, P., Holst, J.J., Darwiche, G. & Almér, L.O. Effects of 1 and 3 g cinnamon on gastric emptying, satiety, and postprandial blood glucose, insulin, glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide, glucagon-like peptide 1, and ghrelin concentrations in healthy subjects. *Am J Clin Nutr*, **89**, 815-821 (2009).
- 75. Kim, M.J., Son, H.J., Song, S.H., Jung, M., Kim, Y. & Rhyu, M.R. The TRPA1 agonist, methyl syringate suppresses food intake and gastric emptying. *PLoS One.* 8, e71603 (2013).
- Adisakwattana, S., Moonsan, P. & Yibchok-Anun, S. Insulin-releasing properties of a series of cinnamic acid derivatives *in vitro* and *in vivo*. J. Agric. Food Chem. 56, 7838-7844 (2008).

- 77. Ong, K.W., Hsu, A. & Tan, B.K. Chlorogenic acid stimulates glucose transport in skeletal muscle via AMPK activation: a contributor to the beneficial effects of coffee on diabetes. *PLoS One*. **7**, e32718 (2012).
- Kim, W. & Egan, J.M. The role of incretins in glucose homeostasis and diabetes treatment. *Pharmacol Rev.* 60, 470-512 (2008).
- 79. Morisset, J. The gastrointestinal cholecystokinin receptors in health and diseases.*Medicane Biolostocensis*. **50**, 22-35 (2005).
- Thavasi, V., Leong, L.P. & Bettens, R.P. Investigation of the influence of hydroxy groups on the radical scavenging ability of polyphenols. *J Phys Chem A.* 110, 4916-4923 (2006).
- Du, G.J., Zhang, Z., Wen, X.D., Yu, C., Calway, T., Yuan, C.S & Wang, C.Z.
   Epigallocatechin Gallate (EGCG) is the most effective cancer chemopreventive polyphenol in green tea. *Nutrients.* 4, 1679-1691 (2012).
- Braicu, C., Pilecki, V., Balacescu, O., Irimie, A. & Neagoe, I.B. The relationships between biological activities and structure of flavan-3-ols. *Int J Mol Sci.* 12, 9432-9453 (2011).
- Wheeler, D. & Wheeler, W. The medicinal chemistry of tea. *Drug* Development Research. 61, 45-66 (2004).

- Mellitzer, G. & Gradwohl, G. Enteroendocrine cells and lipid absorption. *Curr Opin Lipidol.* 22, 171-175 (2011).
- Sternini, C., Anselmi, L. & Rozengurt, E. Enteroendocrine cells: a site of 'taste' in gastrointestinal chemosensing. *Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes.* 15, 73-78 (2008).
- 86. Gameiro, A., Reimann, F., Habib, A.M., O'Malley, D., Williams, L., Simpson, A.K & Gribble FM. The neurotransmitters glycine and GABA stimulate glucagon-like peptide-1 release from the GLUTag cell line. *J Physiol.* 569, 761-772 (2005).
- 87. Hira, T., Elliott, A.C., Thompson, D.G., Case, R.M. & McLaughlin, J.T. Multiple fatty acid sensing mechanisms operate in enteroendocrine cells: novel evidence for direct mobilization of stored calcium by cytosolic fatty acid. *J Biol Chem*, 279, 26082 –26089 (2004)
- Le Nevé, B. & Daniel, H. Selected tetrapeptides lead to a GLP-1 release from the human enteroendocrine cell line NCI-H716. *Regul Pept.* 25, 14-20 (2011).
- Depoortere, I. Taste receptors of the gut: emerging roles in health and disease. *Gut.* 63, 179-190 (2014).

- 90. Batterham, R., Cowley, M., Small, C., Herzog, H., Cohen, M., Dakin, C., Wren, A., Brynes, A., Low, M., Ghatei, M., Cone, R. & Bloom, S. Gut hormone PYY(3-36) physiologically inhibits food intake. Nature 418, 650-654 (2002)
- 91. Verdich, C., Flint, A., Gutzwiller, J.P., Naslund, E., Beglinger, C., Hellstrom, P. & M, Long. A Meta-Analysis of the Effect of Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 (7-36) Amide on Ad Libitum Energy Intake in Humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 86,4382-4389(2001)
  - Xu, G.Y., Winston, J.H., Shenoy, M., Yin, H., Pendyala, S. & Pasricha, 92. P.J. Transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 mediates hyperalgesia and is up-regulated in rats with chronic pancreatitis. Gastroenterology. 133, 1282-1292 (2007).
  - 93. Sun, B., Bang, S.I. & Jin, Y.H. Transient receptor potential A1 increase glutamate release on brain stem neurons. Neuroreport. 20, 1002-1006 (2009).
  - 94. Kurogi, M., Miyashita, M., Emoto, Y., Kubo, Y. & Saitoh, O. Green tea polyphenol epigallocatechin gallate activates TRPA1 in an intestinal enteroendocrine cell line, STC-1. Chem Senses. 37, 167-77 (2012).
  - 95. Chan, C.Y., Wei. L., Castro-Muñozledo. F. & Koo, W.L. (-)-Epigallocatechin-3-gallate blocks 3T3-L1 adipose conversion by inhibition

of cell proliferation and suppression of adipose phenotype expression. *Life Sci.* **89**, 21-22 (2011).

- Umeda, D., Yano, S., Yamada, K. & Tachibana, H. Green tea polyphenol epigallocatechin-3-gallate signaling pathway through 67-kDa laminin receptor. *J Biol Chem.* 283, 3050-3058 (2008).
- Tachibana, H. Green tea polyphenol sensing. *Proc Jpn Acad Ser B Phys Biol Sci.* 87, 66-80 (2011).
- Ghartey-Tagoe, E. B., Babbin, B. A., Nusrat, A., Neish, A. S. & Prausnitz, M.
   R. Plasmid DNA and siRNA transfection of intestinal epithelial monolayers by electroporation. *Int J Pharm.* 315, 122-133 (2006).
  - Le Nevé, B. & Daniel, H. Selected tetrapeptides lead to a GLP-1 release from the human enteroendocrine cell line NCI-H716. *Regul Pept.* 25, 14-20 (2011).
- 100. Kim, K.S., Egan, J.M. & Jang, H.J. Denatonium induces secretion of glucagon-like peptide-1 through activation of bitter taste receptor pathways. *Diabetologia*. 57, 2117-2125 (2014).

- 101. Ming, D., Ninomiya, Y. & Margolskee, R. F. Blocking taste receptor activation of gustducin inhibits gustatory responses to bitter compounds. . *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 17, 9903-9908 (1999).
- 102. Kovbasnjuk O., Mourtazina, R., Baibakov, B., Wang, T., Elowsky, C., Choti,
  M. A., Kane, A. & Donowitz, M. The glycosphingolipid globotriaosylceramide in the metastatic transformation of colon cancer. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 102, 19087–19092 (2005).
- Laprise, P., Viel, A. & Rivard, N. Plasmid DNA and siRNA transfection of intestinal epithelial monolayers by electroporation. *Int. J. Pharm*, 279, 10157– 10166 (2004).
- 104. Simpson, A.K., Ward, P.S., Wong, K.Y., Collord, G.J., Habib, A.M., Reimann,
  F. & Gribble, F.M. Cyclic AMP triggers glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion
  from the GLUTag enteroendocrine cell line. *Diabetologia*, 50, 2181-2189
  (2007).
- 105. Murphy, K. G. & Bloom, S. R. Gut hormones and the regulation of energy homestasis. *Nature*. **444**, 854-859 (2006).
- 106. Moran, T. & Schwartz, G. Neurobiology of cholecystokinin. *Crit Rev Neurobiol*, **9**, 1-28 (1994).
- 107. Sainsbury, A., Schwarzer, C., Couzens, M., Fetissov, S., Furtinger, S., Jenkins,

A., Cox, H., Sperk, G., Hökfelt, T. & Herzog, H. Important role of hypothalamic Y2 receptors in body weight regulation revealed in conditional knockout mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **99**, 8938-8943 (2002).

- 108. Merida, E., Delgado, E., Molina, L.M, Villanueva-Penacarrillo, M.L. & Valverde, I. Presence of glucagon and glucagon-like peptide-1-(7-36)amide receptors in solubilized membranes of human adipose tissue. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 77, 1654-1657 (1993)
- 109. Verdich C, Flint A, Gutzwiller JP, Naslund E, Beglinger C, Hellstrom PM, Long SJ, Morgan LM, Holst JJ, & Astrup A. A Meta-Analysis of the Effect of Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 (7-36) Amide on Ad Libitum Energy Intake in Humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 86, 4382-4389 (2001).
- 110. Kissileff, HR, Pi-Sunyer FX, Thornton J, & Smith GP. C-terminal octapeptide of cholecystokinin decreases food intake in man. Am J Clin Nutr, 34, 154-160 (1981).
- 111. Muurahainen, N., Kissileff H., Derogatis, A. & Pi-Sunyer F. Effects of cholecystokinin-octapeptide (CCK-8) on food intake and gastric emptying in man. *Physiol Behav.* 44, 645-649 (1988)
- 112. Beglinger C, Degen L, Matzinger D, D'Amato M, and Drewe J. Loxiglumide, a CCK-A receptor antagonist, stimulates calorie intake and hunger feelings in humans. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, **280**, R1149-1154 (2001).

- 113. Batterham R, Cowley M, Small C, Herzog H, Cohen M, Dakin C, Wren A, Brynes A, Low M, Ghatei M, Cone R, and Bloom S. Gut hormone PYY(3-36) physiologically inhibits food intake. *Nature*, **418**, 650-654 (2002).
- 114. Batterham RL, Cohen MA, Ellis SM, Le Roux CW, Withers DJ, Frost GS, Ghatei MA, and Bloom SR. Inhibition of Food Intake in Obese Subjects by Peptide YY3-36. *N Engl J Med*, **349**, 941-948 (2003).
- 115. Blinder, B,J., Chaitin, B,F. & Goldstein, R. Gastrointestinal Peptides and the Limitation of Meal Size. *The Eating Disorders*, 57–62 (1988).
- 116. Hansen, L., Deacon, C.F., Orskov, C. & Holst, I,I. Glucagon-like peptide-1-(7-36)amide is transformed to glucagon-like peptide-1-(9-36)amide by dipeptidyl peptidase IV in the capillaries supplying the L cells of the porcine intestine. *Endocrinology*, **140**, 5356–5363 (1999).
- 117. Holst JJ. The physiology of glucagon-like peptide 1. *Physiol Rev.* 87, 1409–39 (2007).
- 118. Karhunen LJ, Juvonen KR, Huotari A, Purhonen AK, Herzig KH. Effect
  - of protein, fat, carbohydrate and fibre on gastrointestinal peptide release in humans. *Regul Pept*, **149**, 70–8 (2008).
- 119. Liddle RA. Cholecystokinin cells. Annu Rev Physiol. 59, 221-42 (1997).

- 120. Elliott, R. Glucagon-like peptide-1 (7-36) amide and glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide secretion in response to nutrient ingertion in man: acute post-prandial and 24-h secretion patterns. J Endocrinol 138, 159-166, (1993)
- 121. Lomenick, J.P., Melguizo, M.S., Mitchell, S.L., Summar, M.L. & Anderson, J.W. Effects of meals high in carbohydrate, protein, and fat on ghrelin and peptide YY secretion in prepubertal children. *J Clin Endocrinol*, **94**, 4463-4471 (2009).
- 122. Karhunen, L.J., Juvonen, K.R., Huotari, A., Purhonen, A.K. & Herzig, K.H. . Effect of protein, fat, carbohydrate and fibre on gastrointestinal peptide release in humans. Regul Pept,149, 70-78 (2008).
- Rexford, S., Ahima, M.D. & Daniel, A. Brain regulation of appetite and satiety. *Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am*, 37, 811-823 (2008)
- Chung, O. & Andrea, H. Vagal Control of Satiety and Hormonal Regulation of Appetite. *J Neurogastroenterol Motil.* 17, 338-348 (2011).
- Blevins J and Baskin D. Hypothalamic-brainstem circuits controlling eating.
   *Forum Nutr*, 63, 133-140 (2010).

126. Kelesidis, T., Kelesidis, I., Chou, S. & Mantzoros, C.S. Dietary Narrative review: the role of leptin in human physiology: emerging clinical applications. *Ann Intern Med.* **19**, 93-100 (2010).

## Acknowledgement

I would like to thank everyone who supported me over the last four years. It would not be possible for me to have completed it without much support and encouragement.

First of all, I would like to express my deepest gratitute to all my supervisors: Professor Dr. Masashi Mizuno, Professor Dr. Takashi Hashimoto and Dr. Professor Yoshiko Aihara for their sustained support, inspiration and patience. I could learn a lot from working with them. I wish to sincerely thank Professor Dr. Yasuhito Shirai who examined my thesis. I wish to sincerely thank also Professor Dr. Kazuki Kanazawa.

I'm deeply grateful to the members in Laboratory of Food & Nutritional Chemistry for their help and warm friendship.

I would like to express my thanks to the Ichikawa International Scholarship Foundation for the financial support for one year.

I wish to sincerely thank my supervisors of International University of Korea, Professor Dr. Jeonghwa Choi and Professor Dr. Youngchul Jung for their attention and encouragement to me. I wish to sincerely thank also Professor Dr. Sungsik Chun and my other professors of International University of Korea. I would like to thank Professor Dr. Sanghwa Shin who influenced me.

I wish to thank my Japanese family, Aoi mother and father, Kitani san and family of Ryoko san for all your concern and warm affection. I also would like to express gratitude to the family of Professor Dr. Seduk Kim.

Next, I would like to thank Ph. D. Hyungwoo Choi and Dongmin Kang at Kobe University, for their encouragement and friendship. I wish to thank also my dear friends, for their warm affection and friendship.

Furthermore, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to Junghoon Kim Dominico priest who prayed for me.

My special thanks to my mother and my father for their undying support, prayers, unconditional love and inspiration. I could continue my studies because of their warm affection and sacrifices. I am a blessed girl to have parents who care for me so much.

## **List of Publications**

\* Won-Young Song, Yoshiko Aihara, Takashi Hashimoto, Kazuki Kanazawa, and Masashi Mizuno: (-)-Epigallocatechin-3-gallate induces secretion of anorexigenic gut hormones, Journal of Clinical Biochemistry and Nutrition

(Accepted doi: 10.3164/jcbn.15-50)